

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Transformational Leadership in Public Schools Within Impoverished Areas

Suzanna Clifton Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Suzanna Clifton

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Donna Thomas, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. John Billings, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Karen Hunt, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Transformational Leadership in Public Schools Within Impoverished Areas

by

Suzanna M. Clifton

MA, Jacksonville State University, 2002

BS, Jacksonville State University, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2019

Abstract

Most students in schools from impoverished areas in one southeastern state were not achieving academically according to state-mandated accountability expectations. However, students in 3 impoverished schools from 1 school district demonstrated successful academic achievement according to state standards. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore how 14 administrators of these impoverished schools described personal transformational leadership behaviors. The study was based on the conceptual framework of transformational leadership as defined by a set of leadership behaviors. Data were collected from individual interviews and personal reflection surveys of administrators of public schools in 1 school district in which at least 50% of the student population was from low socioeconomic circumstances. Through thematic analysis using a priori coding, open coding, and axial coding of administrators' descriptions, key results aligned with the conceptual framework indicated that application of transformational leadership behaviors explained much of the successful outcomes of the schools. The themes that resonated through the study included relationships, collective efficacy, and a culture of coaching. The study contributes to positive social change by identifying areas in which school leaders may build professional capacity to more effectively use transformational leadership behaviors to positively affect the academic achievement of students from impoverished households.

Transformational Leadership in Public Schools Within Impoverished Areas

by

Suzanna M. Clifton

MA, Jacksonville State University, 2002 BS, Jacksonville State University, 1998

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2019

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	3
Problem Statement	6
Purpose of the Study	8
Conceptual Framework	10
Nature of the Study	15
Definitions	16
Assumptions	18
Scope and Delimitations	19
Limitations	19
Significance	20
Summary	22
Chapter 2: Literature Review	24
Literature Search Strategy	24
Transformational Leadership	25
Impact of School Leadership	36
Factors Influencing Student Achievement	42
Summary and Conclusions	47
Chapter 3: Research Method	49
Research Design and Rationale	49
Role of the Researcher	53

Methodology	55
Participant Selection	55
Instrumentation	56
Data Analysis Plan	61
Trustworthiness	64
Ethical Procedures	65
Summary	66
Chapter 4: Results	68
Setting	69
Data Collection	70
Data Analysis	71
Themes	75
Results	79
Research Question 1	80
Research Question 2	88
Evidence of Trustworthiness	96
Summary	98
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	101
Interpretation of the Findings	102
Research Question 1.	103
Research Question 2	105
Limitations of the Study	109
Recommendations	110

Implications	111
Conclusion	113
References	117
Appendix A: Interview Guide	139
Appendix B: Personal Reflection Survey	141

List of Tables

Table 1. Research Questions and Related Interview Questions	.58
Table 2. Transformational Leadership Behaviors and Related Descriptive Statements	.59
Table 3. Data Codes from Face-to-Face Interviews	.73
Table 4. Personal Reflection Survey Findings Aligned to Transformational Leadership	
Behaviors	.74
Table 5. Personal Reflection Survey Findings	.75

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Despite years of educational reform movements and increased accountability in the United States, evidence suggests that public schools are still not meeting the needs of students from impoverished areas, and gaps continued to prevail in achievement outcomes among those from more advantaged households when compared to students from less advantaged households (Brown & Green, 2014; Rickman, 2015; Schippers, 2014; Woods & Martin, 2016). Researchers found schools should have strong and effective leaders to show academic gains; however, the school leaders' capacity to improve student achievement was influenced by the socioeconomic background of students (Ehisuoria & Aigbokhaebho, 2014; Makgato, & Mudzanani, 2019; Sang, Chepchieng, & Kariuke, 2015). Due to the continued failure of public schools to produce increased student outcomes, the leadership behaviors of administrators in public schools should be further examined (Fletcher, Grimley, Greenwood, & Parkhill, 2013; Francois, 2014; Tichnor-Wagner, Garwood, Bratsch-Hines, & Vernon-Feagans, 2016; Young, Winn, & Reedy, 2017). The study investigated the transformational leadership behaviors of public-school administrators serving students from impoverished areas that advanced student achievement outcomes.

Researchers found school leadership did influence student achievement outcomes (Heck & Hallinger, 2014; Pan, Nyeu, & Cheng, 2017; Tschannen-Moran & Gareis, 2015). Also, researchers revealed a relationship between the implementation of the transformational leadership related behaviors and positive student learning results (Dutta & Sahney, 2016; Waite, 2014; Yoon, 2016). Research also concluded school leadership

decisions could influence the socioeconomic gaps in academic achievement (Hiebert & Mesmer, 2013; Holliday, Cimetta, Cutshaw, Yaden, & Marx, 2014). Though findings indicated an evident relationship between effective school leadership and advanced student achievement, researchers found transformational leadership behaviors were not consistently and pervasively implemented in public schools (Makgato, & Mudzanani, 2019; Mora-Whitehurst, 2013; Sammons, Davis, Day, & Gu, 2014; Woods & Martin, 2016; Young et al., 2017).

School leaders were deemed the most-influential school-related factor affecting student achievement outside of teachers in the classrooms (Heck & Hallinger, 2014; Leithwood, Louis, Anderson, & Walhstrom, 2004; McKibben, 2013; Pan et al., 2017; Radinger, 2014; Tschannen-Moran & Gareis, 2015). The school leader's role was crucial in focusing the priorities on teaching and learning (Zheng, Li, Chen, & Loeb, 2017). School administrators leveraged relationships and provide organizational structures that facilitated environments enabling teachers to meet diverse student needs (Boberg & Bourgeois, 2016; Louis, 2015). Transformational leadership concentrated on changing the organization through behaviors by school leadership to influence teachers for a common purpose or engage in changing practice (Bush, 2014; Cansoy, 2019; Kellar & Slayton, 2016). Additional research was needed to explore the application of transformational leadership, particularly in schools where most students came from lowincome households (Kellar & Slayton, 2016; Makgato, & Mudzanani, 2019; Rickman, 2015; Woods & Martin, 2016).

Students from impoverished areas were not achieving academically according to state-mandated accountability expectations in the southeastern United States; however, according to [REDACTED] Department of Education in 2018, three schools advanced student learning with the population. The purpose of the qualitative case study was to investigate the perspectives of school administrators regarding personal leadership behaviors related to local student achievement outcomes. The study was based on the conceptual framework of transformational leadership style as defined by a set of leadership behaviors (see Bass, 1985). A qualitative methodology using the case study design established administrators' current transformational leadership behaviors and supports to personal leadership behaviors.

The potential impact of the study is that it may provide school administrators insight on effective leadership behaviors to better support the learning needs of students from impoverished backgrounds. The study outcome may impact social change by identifying areas in which school leaders may build professional capacity, knowledge, and skills to more effectively use transformational leadership behaviors and positively affect the academic achievement of students from impoverished households.

In this chapter, I will explain the background, research problem, purpose of the study, research questions, theoretical framework, nature of the study, definitions of terms, assumptions, scope of the study, limitations, and significance of study.

Background

Many low-performing schools could be described with characteristics including poverty, inadequate facilities, ineffective administrators, teachers who lacked the

appropriate professional qualifications, and disengaged students (Ayodele, Buari, & Oguntuase, 2016; Brown, 2012). The ineffectiveness of school leadership was the inability to clearly articulate the mission, establish a path for improvement, cultivate a healthy and productive learning climate, motivate teachers, and craft a supportive instructional approach (Ayodele et al., 2016; Hallinger & Lee, 2013; Ojera & Yambo, 2014; Tan, 2012; Thapa, Cohen, Guffey, & Higgins-D'Alessandro, 2013). Prior researchers showed school leaders could impact meaningful school improvement and positive student achievement outcomes (Leithwood et al., 2004; Merritt, 2016).

Recent research indicated students' socioeconomic status had the most substantial influence on cognitive scores than any other factor (Hanover Research, 2014). Providing access to the knowledge and skills needed to promote academic growth for developing prepared students was an urgent issue in schools. Students continued to struggle with literacy development, comprehension, and vocabulary (Mesmer & Hiebert, 2015; Smith, Schiano, & Lattanzio, 2014). Sixty percent of elementary economically disadvantaged students, over 50% of middle grades economically disadvantaged students, and over 45% of high school economically disadvantaged students were not meeting the state-mandated literacy benchmark in the southeastern United States as reported by [REDACTED]

Department of Education in 2018. Over 60% of children attending public school in the state lived in poverty (Suitts, 2015). Understanding the context of the school environment should be paramount in determining a path for school and student success (Klar & Brewer, 2013).

While classroom instruction was the most impactful school-related factor to students' academic success, effective leadership was the second-highest influencer (Leithwood et al., 2004; Radinger, 2014; Young et al., 2017). With the heavy emphasis on accountability in public schools today, Branch, Hanushek, and Rivkin (2013) observed the necessity of having an effective leader in high poverty schools. Administrators were challenged with supporting a wide range of student needs and providing equitable programming for all students. Not only were schools facing the challenge of high poverty rates, but they also addressed mitigating factors before learning could even take place, such as caring for students' basic needs, addressing absenteeism, dealing with high student and staff transiency, and promoting family engagement.

School leaders worked to develop systems and structures, providing equity for all students in the learning environment (Tivnan & Hemphill, 2015; Woods & Martin, 2016). Effective school leadership required an individual to understand the complexity of the components and manage each associated with difficult environments in poverty. Lower academic performance for students of poverty had been a well-documented and widespread problem throughout prior studies. Tivnan and Hemphill (2015) advocated for the achievement gap of students from low-income backgrounds be made a priority in the school reform movement. Though efforts were underway for some time to tackle the needs of disadvantaged learners, researchers recommended schools change the collective mindset from focusing on student skill deficiencies to that of strong leadership and instructional expertise (Stone-Johnson, 2014; Woods & Martin, 2016).

Reform in the educational system compelled school leadership to think differently in response to the changing needs of students, growing the professional capacity of teachers, and outcries from communities (Ross & Cozzens, 2016; Young et al., 2017). Transformational leadership style supported organizational change (Shatzer, Caldarella, Hallam, & Brown, 2014). The education reform movement should not focus solely on the teacher but also on the school leader who built a collective approach to the learning environment, influenced instructional leadership decisions, and established a supportive infrastructure that propagates interventions for students (Louis, 2015). Administrators who demonstrated transformational leadership clearly articulated vision, motivated others, supported intellectual stimulation, and provided opportunities for individual personal growth (Daniels, Hondeghem, & Dochy, 2019). Smith (2016) asserted transformational leadership positively influenced student learning by building a culture committed to organizational success. The power of the transformational leader was the ability to focus school improvement efforts on increased student achievement through organizational conditions to support and emphasize quality instructional behaviors (Baptiste, 2019; Mora-Whitehurst, 2013).

Problem Statement

According to [REDACTED] Department of Education in 2018, students from impoverished areas were not achieving academically according to mandated accountability expectations in the southeastern United States. While over 60% of students in public schools came from impoverished households, over 60% of elementary economically disadvantaged students, over 50% of middle grades economically

disadvantaged students, and over 45% of high school economically disadvantaged students were not meeting the literacy benchmark. Public schools in the state had not met the accountability improvement targets for economically disadvantaged students in English language arts in the past 5 years. Teachers and administrators worked to improve the achievement of at-risk, economically disadvantaged students through programs and various instructional strategies. Through addressing the root cause of a lack of professional expertise of teachers' instructional practices, literacy achievement continued to persist as an area in need of improvement in public school districts with high poverty levels according to state-mandated accountability measures.

A synthesis of research revealed of all the school-influenced factors contributing to what and how students learn at school, leadership was second in strength only to classroom instruction (Leithwood et al., 2004; Radinger, 2014; Young et al., 2017). Research on administrators' perspectives of how leadership behaviors affected student performance was limited among students from impoverished backgrounds. According to Zheng et al. (2017), an administrator was responsible for establishing the priorities for teaching and learning in his/her school, and data did not serve as evidence that many school leaders determined effective leadership behaviors that mediated instruction for struggling, low-income students. The lack of research indicated a gap in knowledge of administrators' leadership behaviors related to the subgroup. The study was a logical step for inquiry, based on data and the literature.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore how administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students demonstrated successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. Though state-mandated accountability measures confirmed low academic achievement for students from impoverished backgrounds, three schools with many students from low socioeconomic households demonstrated advancement of student learning as referenced by [REDACTED] Department of Education in 2018.

Through the study, I sought to explain how the phenomenon of interest, the leadership behaviors of school administrators, was linked to the successful academic achievement of students from impoverished backgrounds. The inquiry was supported by the conceptual framework of transformational leadership style as defined by a set of behaviors articulated by Bass (1985). Transformational leadership behaviors included building trust, acting with integrity, encouraging others, encouraging innovative thinking, and coaching and developing people (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bass & Riggio, 2006).

As the diverse needs of students increase, successful school leaders should focus on thinking and problem solving (Clarke, 2016). Radinger (2014) stated:

School leaders, a small, but pivotal group of the teaching profession, play a key role for teaching and learning through their pedagogical leadership and their responsibility for managing, developing and evaluating their teachers in a context of increasing complexity, greater school autonomy, and accountability. (p. 388)

Expanded knowledge about transformational leadership behaviors to support the learning skills of impoverished children could occur by conducting the research study.

To address the purpose of the study, I interviewed school administrators one-onone to record personal perceptions about transformational leadership behaviors engaged
to improve student achievement and collected personal reflections through a brief survey.
The academic and leadership focus of the local schools matched the commitment of the
study as the district mandated implementation of transformational leadership. The
research informed how administrators in impoverished schools with successful learning
outcomes perceived themselves as leaders and influenced the academic achievement of
economically disadvantaged students. Responses also determined what supports were in
place to assist perceived transformational leadership behaviors. The outcomes of the
work could lead to recommendations for school administrators on how to implement
highly effective leadership behaviors that advance effective teaching strategies and
cultivate successful learning programs for the purpose of positively affecting the
achievement of students from impoverished backgrounds.

Research Questions

RQ1: How do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement describe personal transformational leadership behaviors?

RQ2: What do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement perceive as supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for the study was based on transformational leadership. Burns (1978) first introduced the concept and defined transformational leadership as a process in which "leaders and their followers raise one another to higher levels of morality and motivation" (p. 6). Bass (1985) expanded on the idea by way of developing its implications on followers' motivation and the impact on performance.

Transformational leadership was known to promote organizational change (Bass, 1985; Daniels et al., 2019; Stump, Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, & Mater, 2016). Another evident byproduct of transformational leadership was an increase in effectiveness of those working within the organization (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bass & Riggio, 2006).

Transformational leaders could heighten outcomes otherwise not considered possible by the followers (Bass & Avolio, 1994). Another function of the model was to increase the effectiveness of those within the organization (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bass & Riggio, 2006). Transformational leaders could affect followers in a way that resulted in heightened outcomes than considered possible by the followers (Bass & Avolio, 1994).

Transformational leadership was defined by a set of leadership behaviors that foster successful organizational change as leaders interact with followers (Bass, 1985). The behaviors exhibited by transformational leaders are reflective of four facets including idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bass & Riggio, 2006). Although a transformational leader might not present all behaviors, he/she understood the necessity of setting priorities in his/her leadership (Bass, 1990). Whereas the key elements of

transformational leadership are explained, Chapter 2 will provide a more thorough explanation of the conceptual framework.

The idealized influence aspect entailed specific conduct and qualities of the leader and was divided into the two sub dimensions of idealized influence attributes and idealized influence behaviors (Felfe, Tartler, & Liepmann, 2004). The transformational leader was respected and trusted by followers; and the leader was recognized with "exceptional abilities, endurance and determination" by the same individuals (Stump et al., 2016, p. 83). The transformational leader acted as a role model for followers.

Followers attributed decision-making risks to a transformational leader and responded by acting predictably because they entrusted the leader to do the right thing (Bass & Riggio, 2006).

The transformational leader develops vision for the future using inspirational motivation, which motivates followers while balancing an understanding of needs to accomplish the tasks. The vision is articulated clearly and consistently as the transformational leader provides the encouragement needed to achieve the goals while communicating the significance of each step necessary to make the vision a reality (Bass & Riggio, 2006; Felfe et al., 2004). The transformational leader strives to express the organization's vision in such a way that followers are willing to pursue a new way of thinking (Bass & Avolio, 1994). Because followers are inspired in an optimistic and enthusiastic manner, the vision challenges others to pursue higher goals for themselves and believed goals were indeed achievable (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Felfe et al., 2004; Steinle, Eichenberg, & Stolberg, 2008). The transformational leader works alongside

followers, showing a heightened effort to accomplish the needed tasks (Bass & Avolio, 1994). Inspirational motivation enables transformational leaders to establish a mutual understanding that promotes positive and expected outcomes.

Intellectual stimulation means motivating followers to think and reflect on choices critically (Bass & Riggio, 2006). Transformational leaders stretch the mindset of followers by empowering them to constantly question and assess the effectiveness of problem solving from a creative and thoughtful viewpoint (Stump et al., 2016). Followers become a part of the decision making and are encouraged to think and iterate new ways to produce better outcomes. Intellectual stimulation allows for problems to be seen from multiple perspectives while developing new ways of thinking and addressing new approaches.

The transformational leader choses to see the individual value that followers bring to the organization and supports followers appropriately through individualized consideration (Bass & Riggio, 2006). Followers are expected to set goals, enabling them to reach their full potential. Taking on the role of mentor and coach, the leader is attuned to the followers' strengths and weaknesses. Opportunities to expand the development of competencies are used to promote learning and enhancement of individual skill sets. The leader pursues face-to-face dialogue and active listening with followers. Transformational leaders not only acknowledge followers as coworkers but also as individuals with unique beliefs and needs who bring a diverse perspective, strengthening the organization as a whole (Bass & Riggio, 2006).

Fullan (2002) contextualized transformational leadership to the educational leadership realm by sharing, "The themes are opportunity and depth of learning, policies for individual development, learning in context and systemness, leadership succession and leaders at many levels, and improving the teaching profession" (pp. 16-17). Applying the behaviors of transformational leadership style positively influenced the academic achievement of students (Baptiste, 2019; Christiansen & Robey, 2015; Woods & Martin, 2016; Zheng et al., 2017). Klar and Brewer (2013) suggested that administrators' leadership efforts were determined successful by understanding the local school environment and contextualizing personal leadership behaviors to those needs. The opportunities allowed for educators to work collaboratively by capitalizing upon the team's strengths, supporting disadvantaged students' academic success with intentionality, and nurturing a positive and meaningful climate resulting from strategic improvement goals (Christiansen & Robey, 2015). According to Hernez-Broome and Hughes (2012), "transformational leaders provide compelling visions of a better future and inspire trust through seemingly unshakeable self-confidence and conviction" (p. 26). The conceptual framework allows mentoring and coaching to occur at every level of the organization to equip and encourage growth of the individual and team in meeting the learning needs of low socioeconomic students.

Balyer (2012) studied teachers' perceptions of administrators' transformational leadership behaviors and determined administrators' impact on both student and teacher performance. The findings from the research conducted by Vanblaere and Devos (2016) found that transformational leadership style in schools supported reflection of behaviors

and a collective responsibility focused on student and teacher learning. Day, Gu, and Sammons (2016) posited that sustainable school improvement was not based primarily on the leadership behaviors of the administrators but the ability to determine areas of needed focus and "their application of clearly articulated, organizationally shared educational values through multiple combinations and accumulations of time and context-sensitive strategies are layered and progressively embedded in the school's work, culture, and achievements" as related to transformational leadership principles (p. 222). A transformational leader's ability to cultivate an understanding of the collective responsibility of individuals, while also maximizing their strengths, supports teacher and student success.

School leaders who demonstrated transformational leadership sustained instructional leadership, had trusting relationships with staff, supported teachers to facilitate organizational improvement, and included staff in decision-making (Baptiste, 2019). According to Finnigan (2012), transformational leadership behaviors were "important to understanding the extent to which individuals are motivated toward collective goals of the organization" (p. 196). By investigating effective transformational leadership behaviors focused on providing instructional direction and support, developing relationships and trust, creating systems and processes, and promoting change, others could use the findings to address the lack of consistency in implementation by overcoming barriers and sustaining supports.

Nature of the Study

A qualitative methodology using the case study design guided the research. A case study is used to investigate the inquiry of a phenomenon when presented within its context (Yin, 2014). Case studies help researchers take a real-world issue and conduct an in-depth study of the phenomenon (Hancock & Algozzine, 2006). Through the study, I sought to explain how the phenomenon of interest, leadership behaviors of school administrators, was linked to the successful academic achievement of students from impoverished backgrounds. In choosing the qualitative case study design for the study, I sought to explore how administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States with successful academic achievement described transformational leadership behaviors in addressing the phenomenon (see Hancock & Algozzine, 2006; Woods & Martin, 2016; Zheng et al., 2017).

The case study methodology is described as a bounded system of interest wherein the researcher established boundaries (Stake, 1978; Yin, 2014). In the study, the bounded system of interest was administrators in three schools who served students from impoverished areas in the southeastern United States showing advancement of student learning. The specific group of leaders from the three schools consisted of administrators who had at least 3 years of experience in administration. The student populations of the three schools reflected an enrollment of at least 60% low-income status. The schools also demonstrated academic gains in the area of English language arts on state-mandated assessments. Each school campus had approximately 400 students in each grade level and represented settings at elementary, middle grades, and high school levels.

To deeply understand the perceived leadership behaviors of school administrators, I collected data via interviews and personal reflection surveys. The primary data for the qualitative case study were derived from school administrator interviews. Each participant took part in an interview that lasted 45 to 60 minutes as the primary source for data collection. Personal reflection surveys were collected to further describe information gathered from the interviews. To accomplish the intention of data analysis, I examined transcriptions of recorded individual interviews, field notes, and personal reflection surveys using *a priori* coding, open coding with thematic analysis, and axial coding to determine themes and patterns that might emerge (see Saldana, 2016). The findings of the study may provide information that assists in creating positive social change of leadership behaviors in the southeastern United States for schools to affect advanced academic outcomes of students from low socioeconomic households.

Definitions

The following definitions will provide context for terms used throughout the study:

Idealized Influence: As a core aspect of transformational leadership, the idealized influence factor capitalized on the trust and confidence of the leader to inspire change in others and in turn might gain more autonomy, control, and influence by analyzing the personal attributes and behaviors used by the leader to influence others (Allen, Grigsby, & Peters, 2015).

Individualized Consideration: This aspect of transformational leadership denoted how the followers were known and understood at an individual and unique level about

personal strengths, weaknesses, and value added to the organization (Rana, Malik, & Hussain, 2016).

Inspirational Motivation: Transformational leaders could articulate the common goal by cultivating a mutual understanding to promote positive and potential expectations (Quin, Deris, Bischoff, & Johnson, 2015).

Intellectual Stimulation: Followers were encouraged and pushed to address ideas themselves through innovation and creativity as the transformational leader supported the use and development of their thinking for the good of the organization (Stump et al., 2016).

Leadership Behaviors: The traits or characteristics displayed by a leader demonstrating his/her leadership style, specifically what a leader does (Dutta & Sahney, 2016; Rana et al., 2016).

Low Socioeconomic Status / Economically Disadvantaged Students: Students who qualified for free or reduced meals at school were determined through eligibility criteria: a family's annual income and number of family members by birth, marriage or adoption living in the household (Katz & Shah, 2017).

Poverty: Individuals who lacked the income to provide for the basic needs of food, clothing, shelter, and access to healthcare (Nenadal & Mistry, 2018).

School Administrators: The individuals responsible for leading the operations of a school which included both principals and assistant principals (Donaldson, 2013).

Student Achievement: The acquisition and mastery of the desired knowledge and/or skills associated with student learning (Hagel, 2014).

Transformational Leadership: Leaders worked collaboratively with individuals and/or groups to create positive change through identifying issues, sharing a vision for the desired outcomes, and fostering plans that address the need in an encouraging and motivating manner (Bass, 1985; Burns, 1978). Developing followers into leaders was a core tenet of this leadership approach. This leadership style was defined by applying the behaviors of idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Bass, 1985).

Assumptions

The research study unfolded upon four assumptions. The first assumption was participants, including affected school administrators, understood the inquiries and had the appropriate context with which to respond. A second assumption was participants would be thoughtful and honest in responses. Quality in research through trustworthiness and dependability was essential because the outcomes influenced new knowledge (Burkholder, Cox, & Crawford, 2016). The design of the study assumed that administrators had enough knowledge of transformational leadership and followed the district mandate to implement the four related behaviors. Another assumption was school leaders reflected upon and shared experiences about transformational leadership behaviors from a critical lens to gather an in-depth understanding of responses. The final assumption was participants could articulate descriptions of leadership behaviors employed in schools in which most of the students are from impoverished households.

Scope and Delimitations

The scope of the study encompassed administrators in three public schools in the southeastern regions of the United States and the analysis of viewpoints about perceived transformational leadership behaviors in public schools that had at least 50% of the student population receiving free and/or reduced lunch and showed successful outcomes in academic achievement. To facilitate transferability, descriptive statistics for each school were collected to record the number of years of administrative tenure, the size of the school, the percentage of students who qualify for free or reduced meals, the percentage of non-White students, the percentage of students with disabilities, and the percentage of English learners. The data points were used to describe the schools in the study. Furthermore, a delimitation of the study was that the population had been narrowed specifically to the southeastern United States comprising of only three public schools.

The study was not intended to point out concerns or negative effects related to transformational leadership. Also, its purpose was not to determine the effectiveness of any other leadership behaviors or classifying school administrators as ineffective for the purpose of evaluation.

Limitations

To begin the data collection process for the study, information was collected from the state's department of education and school websites to ascertain school level information and email addresses for potential participants. The sample size for the schools was outside of my control and could affect the study and ability to generalize for

larger populations; however, schools with similar populations might find transferability through the descriptive statistics.

Researchers conducting case studies must be aware of any biases that may be prevalent to ensure sensitivity and integrity to not affect the outcome (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Biases could occur naturally because I was an employee of the school district participating in the study. Because I was familiar with the professional learning of administrators and curriculum and instructional approach, interview questions were reviewed by another individual to ensure that those posed were open-ended and not leading to a desired outcome. To avoid any biases that could have influenced the results of the study, I focused on the research questions and practiced firm adherence to the data collection procedures.

Additionally, perceptions about leadership behaviors might not have fully aligned to transformational leadership presented in the background literature. The limitation might have inhibited participants from expressing ideas in accordance with the conceptual framework, expanding into other areas of interest. A small group of administrators participated in the study, so the lack of qualitative data from teachers could present a limitation in the findings. If this did indeed occur, perhaps a more indepth analysis could be pursued through future research.

Significance

In the study, findings could contribute in understanding how transformational leadership behaviors of school leaders positively influence economically disadvantaged student achievement outcomes. Public schools did not consistently and pervasively

implement effective transformational leadership behaviors shown through prior research to positively impact student achievement (Kellar & Slayton, 2016; Mombourquette, 2017; Stump et al.). The research project was justified in literature. Research of effective transformational leadership behaviors in public schools where most students were from poverty was limited in previous studies, thus creating a gap in the existing knowledge. The influence of school administrators on instruction and student learning "is layered, complex, and, most importantly, bounded" (Donaldson, 2013, p. 842). The study will add new knowledge to the existing literature upon which future studies may build to extend school leadership and reform of systems and structures.

By researching the perspectives of administrators regarding personal leadership behaviors related to successful student achievement outcomes, impactful social change could be offered to influence other school leaders' behaviors. Social change was a platform for my scholarly research to expand the knowledge and skills for gaining insight to address the issues and challenges of today's society through evidence-based behaviors. The study identified areas in which school administrators could build personal professional capacity, knowledge, and skills to more effectively use transformational leadership behaviors. This aspect of supporting learning through effective transformational leadership behaviors might also contribute to student achievement increases in schools of disadvantaged contexts.

As accountability measures become more prevalent, continuous school improvement efforts should be aligned to evidenced-based behaviors (Woods & Martin, 2016). Hagel (2014) supported the idea school administrators could positively affect

student achievement, particularly in schools from disadvantaged areas, by being aware of his/her leadership behaviors and putting those into action by focusing on improvement. School leaders' roles are to guide and support positive school change. The outcomes of the study may also be used to inform school leadership programs and present considerations for school improvement.

Summary

Researchers suggested a relationship between transformational leadership and academic success of students (Baptiste, 2019; Heck & Hallinger, 2014; Pan et al., 2017; Tschannen-Moran & Gareis, 2015; Vanblaere & Devos, 2016). Transformational leadership had been studied extensively, particularly in organizations in need of substantive change. School leaders have a moral obligation to cultivate and propel opportunities for student and teacher success (Scheerens, 2012). Leaders did so by demonstrating behaviors related to transformational leadership that fostered systems level thinking, developed cultural perspective, and removed internal barriers and mitigated external ones (Pan et al., 2017). The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore how administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students demonstrated successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors.

Chapter 2 of the study provides a critical review of the current literature supporting the conceptual framework of transformational leadership within the context of the educational setting. The research presented also involved peer-reviewed research

articles and seminal works on the impact of school leadership on student achievement and components that may change the outcomes of learning.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Within Chapter 2, a scholarly review of the current literature relevant to the research study is presented and discussed. The literature review was organized into three overarching topics: (a) transformational leadership in schools, (b) the impact of school leadership, and (c) factors influencing student achievement. As articulated in Chapter 1, a gap existed in the literature studying the gaps associated in using effective leadership behaviors in public schools that included students from low-income households. Most studies were qualitative in method, set in urban or international locations, and assessed small sample sizes. Limited research occurred intentionally addressing transformational leadership behaviors of administrators from public schools in which most students came from impoverished backgrounds. The literature review shares how transformational leadership has impacted school settings, discusses the impact of school leadership on teacher effectiveness and student achievement, and highlights factors that may affect school improvement efforts. Detailed studies were reviewed, analyzed, and provided insight into the existing literature associated with the purpose of the study.

Literature Search Strategy

Electronic databases, including Academic Search Premier, ERIC, EBSCO, Sage Journals, Taylor & Francis Group, Education Source, and Google Scholar, were exhausted to acquire the existing and relevant research. Advanced database searches of peer-reviewed journals and traditional printed books were used to ensure saturation of the literature. Advanced database searches were completed using two to three of the descriptive terms together (i.e., transformational leadership, school principal, school

administrator, low-income, poverty, student achievement, school improvement, barriers, supports, and leadership). The search produced over 18,000 articles analyzing various forms of school leadership and aspects of student achievement. In narrowing the scope aligned to the problem statement of the study, an analysis of the following articles proved relevant to this study. Every effort was made to ascertain the most current scholarly research on the subject; however, some earlier sources were consulted to establish depth in understanding of the concepts.

Transformational Leadership

Any discussion about effective leadership for the 21st century administrator started with the transforming leadership theory originated with the work of Burns (Tobin, 2014). Burns (1978) investigated how political leaders engaged with individuals through intentional vigor, potential, and ethical drive. Bass (1985) developed the work of Burns and changed the name to transformational leadership. With the four overarching behavioral components of idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration, transformational leadership emerged as a promising model to help schools respond to the evolving academic needs of students in new and different ways (Aydin, Sarier, & Uysal, 2013; Tobin, 2014). This model pushed school administrators to take ownership of leadership behaviors to increase organizational effectiveness and go beyond the established standard to fulfill the needs of followers (Afshari, Bakar, Luan, & Siraj, 2012). Transformational leadership was more effective than the procedural problem solving of transactional leadership by focusing on people and organizational needs (Afshari et al., 2012). Aydin et al. (2013) posited

transformational leadership could be the best leadership behaviors in education to increase discourse, encourage cascading of the vision and mission, and add greatly towards developing the professional capacity of teachers as they facilitate learning.

Administrators who exercised transformational leadership enhanced the overall conditions of schools, particularly the climate, and inspired stakeholders to support the improvement goals (Aydin et al., 2013; Gray & Lewis, 2013; Tobin, 2014). Those leaders focused on improvement worked to foster trusting relationships, demonstrate evidenced-based leadership, and centered attention on student learning.

Pietsch and Tulowitzki (2017) posited that school leadership was an integral component in "creating and sustaining functional schools" (p. 629). Burns (1978) first established the distinction between transactional and transformational leadership, explaining transforming leadership "occurs when one or more persons engage with others in such a way that leaders and followers raise one another to higher levels of motivation and morality" (p. 20). The description of transformational leadership was further expanded by Bass (1990) as something occurring when leaders "broaden and elevate the interests of their employees, when they generate awareness and acceptance of the purposes and mission of the group, and when they stir their employees to look beyond their own self-interest for the good of the group" (p. 21). This mindset created a greater sense of purpose and accountability among the team as challenges were considered and addressed.

Leaders had opportunities to apply both transactional and transformational leadership (Bass, 1988). The conceptualization consisted of six leadership factors:

inspirational leadership, intellectual stimulation, individualized consideration, contingent reward, management-by-exception, and laissez-faire leadership (Bass, 1990). However, a noteworthy consideration was that transformational leadership was not a concept to be in isolation. As an example, the concept of transformational leadership used by Leithwood and Jantzi (2000) included transactional behaviors and encompassed the following components: "Building school vision and goals; providing intellectual stimulation; offering individualized support; symbolizing professional behaviors and values; demonstrating high performance expectations; developing structures to foster participation in school decisions; staffing; instructional support; monitoring school activities; and community focus" (p. 114). Although the two leadership approaches differed, the common focus of both centered around leaders interacting with the people around them. Burns (1978) and Bass (1990) both emphasized that the premise of the leadership behaviors focused on leaders building the capacity of others on teams, using motivation to propel others toward change and ultimately transformation. Due to the reform behaviors inherent in transformational leadership, this style has been suggested as an ideal option for administrators leading school change. In considering the supports and barriers of pervasive implementation, more research was needed.

A greater understanding of the constructs of transformational leadership could give awareness of the behaviors in a school setting and how support might have been provided to school leaders while building a culture of continuous improvement (Oterkiil & Ertesvag, 2014). Leadership was only one factor affecting change; however, it might have been the most significant due to its influence on other factors. To create a school

culture focused on successful and sustainable change, administrators used effective leadership behaviors whereby teachers had ownership in the process. School leadership was a complex phenomenon with the acknowledgment regardless of how vast the knowledge base expanded, continual and extended study would be required.

The organizational mechanisms of school leaders relative to transformational leadership behaviors and the impact upon student achievement showed transformational leadership did impact the achievement measures when considering performance goals and stakeholder engagement (Sun & Henderson, 2017; Sun & Leithwood, 2012).

Training was encouraged for leaders in transformational leadership behaviors to align organizational processes to the leadership style and support meaningful feedback for performance goals. Collaborative structures and individuals' consideration had the most significant contributions on student achievement; however, more research on transformational leadership behaviors within the context of a school setting was recommended (Sun & Leithwood, 2012).

Researchers have advised not to underestimate the impact of school leadership on teaching. School leaders strongly influence the learning environment and that of the work of teachers and staff (Baptiste, 2019; Vanblaere & Devos, 2016). Studies had proven the structures and systems operationalized in schools could either nurture or hinder strong collaborative environments. Transformational leadership focuses on how leaders shape, guide, and empower staff (Scheerens, 2012). More specifically, transformational leaders "connected individual and collective action by not exercising power over people, but rather through them" (Vanblaere & Devos, 2016, p. 28). The leaders influenced from a

bottom-up approach, raised the capacity of teachers and motivated them to strive toward greater effectiveness of teaching and learning (Burns, 1978). In school leadership, four dimensions were added to the transformational leadership model of Bass (1985): modeling best behaviors, demonstrating high performance expectations, creating a productive school culture, and developing structures to foster teachers' participation (Leithwood & Jantzi, 2000). Administrators led teachers by inspiring toward a deeper sense of purpose in contributing to the transformation movement by working collectively to overcome challenges and achieve common goals (Makgato & Mudzanani, 2019).

Vanblaere and Devos (2016) found that professional growth related to transformational leadership should be centered around coaching and motivating teachers, which could be a difficult challenge due to the interdependence of awareness, attitudes, and personal styles. Transformational leadership involves the construct of expectations necessitating all participants being on the same page (Litz & Scott, 2017). This belief should be set forth from the top and perpetuated throughout all aspects of the school environment. Another consideration is that successful distribution of leadership is likely to depend greatly on the collaborative nature among the leaders, whereby characteristics of openness, mutual trust, and communication exist (Cansoy, 2019; Wang, Wilhite, & Martino, 2016). Teachers' perceptions of transformational leadership were connected to participation in insightful dialogue and the existence of a collective responsibility (Vanblaere & Devos, 2016).

Transformational leaders pushed "to raise the consciousness of followers and to induce them to transcend their own self-interest for the sake of the organization" (Kwan,

2016, p. 112). Researchers maintained one of the main responsibilities of school leaders was to help create an environment that breed's teacher collaboration centered around the school's mission and vision. The six dimensions were building school vision and goals, providing intellectual stimulation, offering individualized support, symbolizing professional behaviors and values, demonstrating high performance expectations, and developing structures to foster participation in school decisions (Leithwood, 1994; Leithwood & Jantzi, 1999). Some studies realigned the framework into three overarching dimensions: setting directions, developing people, and redesigning the organization (Leithwood & Jantzi, 2005). Setting directions included the leadership behaviors of building a common school vision, developing specific goals and priorities, and sustaining high expectations for performance. Providing intellectual stimulation, offering individualized support, and modeling effective professional behaviors supported developing people. Organizational reform behaviors involved developing a collaborative school culture, creating systems and structures to foster shared decision making, and creating productive community partnerships. It could be challenging to strike a balance in school leadership realms to monitor teacher quality while keeping them engaged with an all-in mindset; therefore, transformational leadership could be a catalyst for the effective behaviors of instructional leadership through the development of a trusting school environment.

School leaders had substantive influence on teacher and student performance; therefore, transformational leadership qualities should be a priority to affect vision building, high student achievement, developing group goals, and professional

development (Balyer, 2012). Christiansen and Robey (2015) posited that the role of school leaders in setting the tone for the culture enables schools to transform into an environment focused on teacher and student learning, teaching, and operational structures of support. Transformational leadership behaviors call for creating a culture focused on learning through routine communication of the mission, vision, values, and goals; approaching curriculum focused on student learning and quality instruction; empowering teachers to view themselves as leaders; providing teachers with needed information and staff development to make decisions that promote learning; and facilitating systems enabling collaborative work focused on teaching and learning (Woods & Martin, 2016). Administrators set high standards for learning and motivated people to achieve through teamwork.

Transformational leadership involved behaviors in which administrators engaged and solicited team members to become actively involved in assessing the needs of the school culture for improvement through building a shared vision and mission (Damanik & Aldridge, 2017). The intellectual stimulation component refers to a leader who ignites extra effort among his or her followers to rethink ideas, to challenge existing ways of doing things, and to reframe problems (Wang et al., 2016). Damanik and Aldridge (2017) referenced the importance of professional interactions in building trust and engaging with staff members. This practice emphasized how administrators model expectations for interactions with and among other staff members. Participatory decision making was attributed to how a school leader sought staff involvement in decision making and empowered the distribution of leadership among the staff members (Johnson et al., 2014).

As a school leader promoted this participation, he/she also developed a common language and understanding of values, which strengthened the school's organizational culture as evidenced through its norms, values, beliefs, and assumptions (Damanik & Aldridge, 2017). The individualized support dimension was about how the leader considers his/her followers relative to varied needs and capacities. This dimension was evaluative as to whether the leader demonstrated compassion, strong coaching, and mentorship. The moral perspective dimension referred to the administrator's personal characteristics and whether he/she behaves in ways that were reflected by the beliefs and values championed by the school. While the concept of leadership involved influencing others, leadership style was the art of influencing other individuals toward a direction for the common good.

According to Day and Sammons (2013), school principals had often been described as the conclusive factor for matters of school improvement in prior literature; however, evidence suggested school leaders were restricted by numerous demands of time and that, consequently, limited influence or were resolved by inner school factors (Easley & Tulowitzki, 2016). The school administrators could directly affect the school environment relative to culture, climate, or organizational structure. These aspects of leadership roles in turn were connected to student performance. The findings of Easley and Tulowitzki (2016) demonstrated administrators strongly influenced the work setting, innovation capacity, and motivation of staff, enabling teachers to instruct students and meet learners' needs. Thus, leaders who were directly involved in the design and implementation of curriculum, instruction, and assessment constructs and those who

directly monitored the classroom behaviors of teachers, had influence on the probability of teachers changing instructional mindsets.

Litz and Scott (2017) promoted creating a shared vision, improving effectiveness, establishing high expectations, and building instructional capacity as necessary elements of strong leadership to achieve positive change. They posited that transformational leadership focuses on results and underscores success. This leadership style, developed by Burns (1978), was recognized as a process that led to operationalizing transformation through increasing achievement and motivation of followers. Change took place through the diligence of motivated followers to achieve success (Bass, 1985, 2000). Burke (2013) found change theory grounded in knowledge of the human behavior could explain the evolution of organizations in which transformational leadership became the norm. Effective transformational leaders influence shared beliefs and values building a level of change that is absolute and comprehensive while being more likely than transactional leaders to take risks and produce trust (Bass & Avolio, 1990). The leaders expanded the abilities of individuals who collectively nurtured a school culture oriented focused on learning. As a result, learning grew into a shared responsibility. Change in school culture influenced the school environment itself. Teachers adapting to a new leadership would inevitably be a challenge; however, intentionality and emphasis on gradual changes to the organizational culture and school framework with collaborative engagement and open dialogue, teachers would more than likely demonstrate participation in the process and adapted to the newness expected of them.

School leadership was essential to the success of school organizations (Quin et. al, 2015). Administrators were rated second to teachers in the improvement of student achievement (Tschannen-Moran & Gareis, 2015); and according to McKibben (2013), school leaders might be responsible for up to 25% of the variance in student learning. A transformational leader buffers teachers from external distractions by supporting collaboration of teachers and providing individualized support and consideration (Dutta & Sahney, 2016). When led with a transformational style, teachers voluntarily followed administrators' direction by taking ownership of shared improvement goals and basing decisions on systematic data collection directly related to classroom instructional behaviors (Yoon, 2016). In this new era of increased accountability, administrators were expected to show substantial academic growth for all students and marked improvement in achievement. Researchers noted a limited amount of research was conducted on the differences in the leadership behaviors of school leaders in organizations with varying performance outcomes (Scheerens, 2012). The lack of research shows a need to investigate leadership from high performing schools to better understand the behaviors required to generate positive change and remove obstacles to the work.

Leadership is based on relationships, and "relationships in schools – from classroom relationships between students and teachers, to teacher-administrator relationships, to school-community relationships – influences everything teachers and other school leaders sought to accomplish through schooling" (Waite, 2014, p. 1202). School administrators learn to balance the efforts with teachers, students, and community members, while working to strengthen the overall school environment (Xu, Wubbena, &

Stewart, 2016). Waite suggested this challenge is in large part reflective of an increased emphasis on transactional processes in managing schools by way of accountability, standardized curriculum, high-stakes testing, performance-based pay, and punitive measures (Waite, 2014). Transactional conditions create a chasm in the teacher workforce, and transformational leadership behaviors are needed to help offset the adverse effects of a pure transactional model. The results of negative effects include a prescribed instructional approach (Waite, 2014), low teacher efficacy (Vieluf, Kunter, & van de Vijver, 2013), and teacher burnout.

According to Zeinabadi (2014), school leaders were instrumental in triggering positive relationships and high leverage behaviors in schools. School leaders should focus on cultivating relationships that are professional, supportive, truthful, and intentional; and those who did so with teachers proved to be well liked, respected, and trusted. The administrator relationships impact teacher growth by working for the advancement of the school, teachers, and students rather than for themselves while establishing a culture of care and enjoyment. Transformational leadership was the most crucial predictor of impactful and high-quality transfer of teachers' instructional practices (Zeinabadi, 2014).

One of the most significant and influential leadership models in education proved to be transformational leadership (Bush, 2014). Berkovich (2016) found the relevance of the theory to the current challenges encountered by school administrators.

Transformational leadership is important within the structure of decision making as certain behaviors overlap with factors that promoted data, such as creating a shared vision (Stump et al., 2016). The strength of transformational leadership exists in its focus on

changing the organization through behaviors used by the leader work to influence team members to pursue one direction or implement a practice in place of another (Kellar & Slayton, 2016); however, the transformational leadership behaviors of school administrators should be studied more closely to determine whether differences exist between or within single dimensions (Stump et al., 2016). Educational leadership evolved and allowed for in-depth exploration of the subtle aspects of leadership in fostering transformative organizational change (Daniels et al., 2019). This need to expand our approach in studying leadership was intended to help explain what a leader could accomplish in his/her role.

Impact of School Leadership

A school leadership effectiveness structure could not be determined without first identifying what the administrator's role in the school was (Zheng et al., 2017). After classroom instruction, school leaders were the second most influential school-related factor affecting student achievement as they focused the priorities on teaching and learning (Radinger, 2014; Young, Winn, & Reedy, 2017). Administrators played a crucial role in establishing the expectations of teacher quality and measuring effectiveness. School leaders leveraged relationships to foster stronger classroom practice and created supportive learning environments for both teachers and students (Louis, 2015). Accountability in student learning for all socioeconomic groups, learner profiles, and racial backgrounds continued for administrators and schools (Brown, Bynum, & Beziat, 2017; Shin, Slater, & Backhoff, 2013). Although accountability for student performance outcomes was in place, Kruger and Scheerens (2012) found that school leadership

affected student achievement indirectly and that relationship remained largely unknown. As a result, reform efforts that proved successful required a greater understanding of the factors influencing the relationship among leadership and achievement (Boberg & Bourgeois, 2016). Leaders who actively focused on redesign of the organizational framework promote collaboration and participation, while those who sought to directly affect the instructional program place emphasis on monitoring and support of classroom teaching. These behaviors in isolation might have narrowed the scope of school leadership (Kruger & Scheerens, 2012). Whereas leadership did not directly impact student achievement, studies showed school leadership directly influencing teacher motivation and behaviors, which in turn shaped student outcomes.

School administrators creating cultures of confidence and trust helped provoke teachers to strive for a greater concentration on effort and achievement and work better with one another to solve the challenges faced (Tschannen-Moran & Gareis, 2015).

Tschannen-Moran and Gareis (2015) found a direct correlation between school leader trustworthiness, leadership behaviors, and student achievement. Administrators worked within a diverse community, made up of varied groups, subgroups, and individuals which include teachers, parents, community members, staff, and students, who were often competing if not conflicting.

Leadership might have a significant impact on school improvement efforts and student learning. According to Pan et al. (2017), the relationship was achieved as school leaders shape the systems and structured building a capacity for change while nurturing effective teaching and learning behaviors. Transformational school leaders also designed

environments conducive to learning for all school members; however, administrators faced challenges as they work to move schools forward. Often, conflicts presented among old and new thoughts of learning and the lack of professional knowledge of administrators impeded conversations with teachers. School leaders struggled to capitalize on the importance of building learning communities focused on organizational change and improved student learning outcomes by engaging teachers in purposeful collaborative and nurturing supportive relationships.

Transformational school leaders analyzed both organizational strengths and weaknesses to better identify areas of needed improvement and proactively plan for essential changes (Yoon, 2016). Administrators' utilization of data and the ways in which they communicated with teachers became vital components to ensure effective implementation of the reform movement. Strong evidence given to teachers helped build a better understanding of the learning progression and in turn facilitated openness to new initiatives while strengthening implementation. Because changes did not always produce the expected results, the role of teacher perception in schools, and how it shaped the extent to which reforms were implemented to fidelity, should be considered. Concerning school reform outcomes, data-driven administrators were more positively related to teachers' perception, which was critical in understanding the relationships between school leadership, teacher practice, and students' academic achievement (Yoon, 2016). Researchers increasingly acknowledged the claim a leadership's impact on learning was accomplished indirectly by shaping conditions that influenced effective teaching and learning (Heck & Hallinger, 2014).

Administrators who exercised effective leadership behaviors could recognize instructional strategies connecting teachers' classroom behaviors that determined students' strengths and weaknesses with individualized levels of needed support (Muthler, 2015). Also, administrators adjusted leadership behaviors to support innovation, collaboration, diverse thinking, reflection, and professionalism to improve academic achievement (Ross & Cozzens, 2016). The school leader should demonstrate quality leadership behaviors that build a trusting and supportive school community by being fair, firm, and consistent. Influential school leaders established clear expectations and structured plans allowing individuals to successfully execute the plans.

Administrators did so by supporting teachers in maximizing potential individually, organizing the school to improve effectiveness, and sharing the responsibility as datafocused and data-driven leaders.

From the perspective of influencing student achievement, researchers established teachers and administrators in this order as more reliable sources of data (Shen, Ma, Cooley, & Burt, 2016). School leaders propagated teacher empowerment by providing opportunities for shared decision-making, improving the school climate, establishing positive communication mechanisms, and building relationships of trust (Balyer, Ozcan, & Yildiz, 2017). However, leadership struggled to support the self-efficacy of teachers in growing professional capacity, having freedom in instructional methods, or delegating leadership responsibilities (Mora-Whitehurst, 2013). Because teachers had a direct influence on increased student achievement, administrators should cultivate an

environment that empowered teachers through a supportive learning environment (Shin et al., 2013).

Boberg and Bourgeois (2016) and Huguet (2017) offered research about school leadership behaviors promoting school-wide reform efforts. The importance of school leadership instituting systems, structures, and processes to support teacher and student success was expressed in prior research (Klar & Brewer, 2013; Shatzer et al., 2014). Specific elements promoting leadership development occurred by creating a common vision and mission, building relationships that cultivate trust, planning for student-centered collaboration, providing professional development for teachers, and distributed leadership.

Teachers engaged in a collaborative culture when they felt valued and respected through aspects of shared and supportive leadership behaviors (Carpenter, 2015). Aspects of the school structures that focused on a collective purpose and values, a collaborative culture, the problem-solving process, and continuous improvement promoted distributed leadership and built leadership capacity for school reform (Klar, Huggins, Hammonds, & Buskey, 2016). Administrators who demonstrated success were motivated to build capacity due to the needs of teachers and students by pointing to four phases in the cultivation of leadership process – identification of potential leaders, creation of leadership opportunities, facilitation of a transition in roles, and continuous support (Klar et al., 2016). While this research provides a foundation for the necessity of the relationship between distributed leadership and leadership development, professional development opportunities should focus upon growing leadership capacity in others

through careful analysis of the school contextual features, leadership strategies, leader characteristics, and transitions in leadership styles (Sammons et al., 2014).

Without distributed leadership and administrators as capacity builders, little focus could be given to facilitating and monitoring the learning environment due to the many administrative duties assigned to school leaders (Balyer, 2014). Although teachers were cited as the most direct influence, administrators affected all teachers and students within a school (Branch et al., 2013). Mombourquette (2017) emphasized the administrator's necessity in understanding the importance of identifying a shared vision, communicating vision, centering the efforts of the school community on achieving the vision, and celebrating successes. Sun and Leithwood (2015) cautioned, however, "there is much yet to learn about how leadership influences student outcomes, and considerable research was needed before such learning could be 'codified' in a way that might be directly useful to practicing school leaders" (p. 517). The behaviors of the school leader to transform a school community encompassed learning to lead, trusting in time, making connections, and managing change through personnel decisions and institutional structures that support learning (Watson & Bogotch, 2016). Administrators may have difficulty in establishing priorities without an intentional focus on teaching and learning.

A central debate in organizational research of educational settings was centered on who participated in school leadership (Sebastian, Huang, & Allensworth, 2017).

Teachers assumed a variety of leadership roles in schools, either formally and informally and both directly and indirectly with colleagues, while supporting the school leader's mission, goals, and initiatives. Teachers wanted to take on leadership responsibilities but

expected administrators to offer forethought and guidance (Johnson et al., 2014). Decades of research on school leadership led to a comprehensive and exhaustive body of work suggesting school leadership's behaviors of establishing organizational systems and process was indirectly related to student achievement (Dumay, Boonen, & Van Damme, 2013). Administrators assumed numerous operational responsibilities beyond administration and management, participation in teaching and learning, and external and internal engagement with various stakeholders (Grissom, Loeb, & Master, 2013). Effective administrator and teacher leadership placed an emphasis on the school climate, particularly in the areas of safety and teacher's expectations (Sebastian et al., 2017). Administrators improved the learning climate of the school by providing structures for removing barriers of teachers, guiding and supporting work, and monitoring the success of efforts. Sebastian, Allensworth, and Huang (2016) linked student achievement growth using data in elementary schools to administrator and teacher leadership. Opportunities for teachers to assume leadership responsibilities were also significant among school leadership and student achievement in establishing the learning climate.

Factors Influencing Student Achievement

Most children attending public school in the southeastern United States live in poverty, and socioeconomic status is a major factor contributing to student achievement gaps (Rickman, 2015). Those from impoverished backgrounds are not always prepared for school and may enter with learning deficiencies, thus creating an achievement gap in comparison to academic peers (Blair & Raver, 2014). Numerous factors can be related to poverty, such as students' physical and mental health and wellbeing; language

development; access to resources; family engagement in learning; teacher effectiveness; and mobility level. Poverty negatively influenced student achievement (Judge, 2013; Ladd, 2012). Hagans and Good (2013) found the strongest predictor of low student performance to be the socioeconomic factor of poverty.

Low socioeconomic status could impact the literacy development of children due to the limited language environment in the home and the lack of exposure to print materials (Fletcher, 2017; Slater et al., 2014). Holliday et al. (2014) demonstrated "more hours in childcare, better health status, higher parent education, and use of English (in addition to one's native language) at home improve resilience in children in poverty at the start of kindergarten" (p. 142). Families in poverty had heightened rates of challenges, "such as low levels of parental education and elevated family stress," that often diminish support for early childhood "cognitive and social-emotional development" (Lee & Bierman, 2015, p. 384). Rogers, Labadie, and Pole (2016) stated "intentionally creating space and time for children to respond to books would support literacy development" (p. 40). Without practice in reading text, students' reading fluency, vocabulary development, and critical comprehension could be inhibited (Chafel & Neitzel, 2012). Once early reading skills were established, a platform on which to expand further learning was provided; conversely, if a child began elementary school behind, the student might have struggled to stay on track with his/her similar academic peers (Comber, 2014). Not only was the income gap widening but the achievement gap in student performance persisted (Rickman, 2015). Schippers (2014) shared, "The gap in skill development between

advantaged and disadvantaged children emerges early and can predict academic achievement in later years" (p. 42). Hiebert and Mesmer (2013) found:

increasing the pressure on the primary grades—without careful work that indicates why the necessary levels are not attained by many more students—may have consequences that could widen a gap that is already too large for the students who, at present, are left out of many careers and higher education. (p. 49)

Without early intervention, children born into low socioeconomic settings might have struggled to catch up to peers, drop out of school, and not fare well in the job market which results in a continual cycle of poverty (Schippers, 2014). More rigorous learning expectations had been enacted to better equip students for the "high-powered careers" of the future and to level the playing field across the nation (VanTassel-Baska, 2015, p. 61). As a result, increased accountability measures were promoting college and career readiness with benchmarks of literacy expectations established throughout a student's educational journey. Haskins, Murnane, Sawhill, and Snow (2012) asserted changing the standards alone would not help impoverished children reach the new levels of literacy required for the economy of today and the future; also, the quality of teaching should also be addressed through appropriate assessments leading to effective instructional behaviors.

A child's academic success was related to classroom teaching practices; effective, high-quality instruction may have diminished socioeconomic gaps in literacy development (Lee & Bierman, 2015). The potential outcomes for students with lower socioeconomic status might have resulted in lower academic achievement, higher dropout rates, and increased learning gaps progressing through the grade levels (Nichols &

Nichols, 2014). According to the study conducted by Schwartz, Schmitt, and Lose (2012), struggling readers required effective support considered "teacher-student ratio, teachers' professional expertise, the students' entering literacy level, and the types and timing of interventions available within the system" (p. 565). The school-based challenge in supporting impoverished students pointed to the curriculum design, methods for instruction, implementation of the classroom behaviors, and professional development needs (Carta et al., 2015).

The phenomenon of high-poverty, failing schools existed in urban, rural, and suburban areas nation-wide (Brown & Green, 2014). Brown and Green (2014) found that successful leaders understood roles and focused on building the necessary relationships promoting change in the school's organizational structure. The school leaders were also able to clearly define and communicate the behaviors related to the school's transformation (Sammons et al., 2014). Though high-poverty and underachieving schools persisted, school administrators continued searching for systems and structures that maximized high leverage and evidenced based practices with the expectation of improving the academic achievement of students and supporting the teachers they served.

Blair and Raver (2014) stressed the importance of child-centered educational intervention programs at the onset of one's learning experience to overcome disadvantages associated with poverty. The potential impact of poverty on student learning was affected through the role of executive functions and regulatory behaviors (Miller, Pavlakis, Lac, & Hoffman, 2014). School administrators could mitigate these factors by focusing on the necessity of quality hiring practices, staff support, parent

feedback, data analysis, and outside resources (Blair & Raver, 2014). This information added greater insight to the leadership behaviors associated with social, public, and education policies to positively affect supporting students from low-income households.

Effective school leadership that cultivated professional learning, accountability, expert capacity in literacy, and ongoing data analysis, yielded a positive influence on the reading achievement of students in low socioeconomic schools (Fletcher et al., 2013). Success in reading was contingent upon a variety of components and indirect factors; however, specific challenges of students from high-poverty settings were associated with fluency, semantic knowledge, and vocabulary (Conradi, Amendum, & Liebfreund, 2016).

Francois (2014) offered insight into the school factors that could affect students' reading achievement. This qualitative project studied one school's journey as it successfully improved the literacy outcomes of students. The administrator led the staff in improving the core instructional program through building personal and professional growth, communicating expectations, developing structures to support collaboration of staff, and expanding accountability through both school-wide progress and individual responsibility. The results of this research expanded the idea that school leaders should take an active role in enabling and sustaining change to promote student success in literacy.

Acquisition of early literacy skills and access to reading materials for children from low-income households benefitted reading achievement (Holliday et al., 2014; Tichnor-Wagner et al., 2016). A joint partnership might be accomplished by equipping families with literacy practice skills, providing print and digital reading materials in the

home, and exposing children to language nutrition through social interactions (Tichnor-Wagner et al., 2016). Administrators and teachers should take a collective responsibility to ensure a partnership is created to bridge the gap between school and home, particularly those from low socioeconomic status.

Mesmer and Hiebert (2015) indicated the importance of recognizing how third graders are transitioning from learning to read to reading to learn. This stage required the comprehension of complex texts, and the inability to navigate this signaled a consequent struggle in secondary school. Readers' prior knowledge was found to be one of the most critical influences on reading outcomes (Britton & Graesser, 2014). The authors felt as though the content of the text influenced student outcomes as a result of the text complexity and lack of background experiences. School leaders were urged to examine how students, especially those in high-poverty communities, were responding to the increase in expectations of text complexity. Leithwood and Azah (2017) explored mission, visions, and goals; instructional systems; data usage; improvement processes; professional development; leadership development; and relationships among stakeholder groups; yet determined additional study should take place at the school level learning more about the mechanisms and variables promoting improvement.

Summary and Conclusions

In the literature review, I examined the conceptual framework of transformational leadership in schools, how an effective administrator leads school improvement, and factors impacting the achievement of students, particularly those from a low socioeconomic home environment. The literature review considered numerous attributes

of an effective school leader. However, researchers determined a single characteristic cannot advance school effectiveness. The leadership behaviors of a school leader were key elements in cultivating a cohesive and collegial learning environment focused on building professional capacity. The behaviors and beliefs of the administrator were key factors to developing a collaborative environment of continued professional growth in which relationships with staff were built on trust, and a school culture fostered success for all students and teachers. It also included distributed leadership with the teaching staff encouraging shared processes in decision-making of promoting and supporting organizational change.

Synthesis of studies concluded the necessity for transformational leadership in schools to advance student academic outcomes. Transformational leaders set high performance targets creating alignment for clear direction in the school, intentionally focused on teaching and learning. Transformational leaders prioritized and structured support aligned to achieving the goals. Leadership capacity extended well beyond the school administrators as time was afforded for collaboration and professional growth. Lastly, administrators focused on building a build positive school culture propagating high expectations while celebrating and championing success of the individual and the team.

In Chapter 3, I will explain the research methodology that will be used for the study and provide the process for data collection and analysis.

Chapter 3: Research Method

According to a 2018 [REDACTED] Department of Education report, three public schools in the southeastern United States advanced the academic achievement outcomes for students from low socioeconomic households. The purpose of the qualitative case study was to explore how the administrators of impoverished schools whose students demonstrated successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. The comprehensive analysis was intended to yield informative explanations of how the phenomenon of interest, the leadership behaviors of school administrators, was linked to the successful academic achievement of students from poverty.

Chapter 3 provides a detailed explanation of the study's methodology designed to expand upon the research method. The following sections will be included: Setting, Research Design & Rationale, Role of the Researcher, and Methodology.

Trustworthiness, Threats to Validity, and Ethical Procedures will also be discussed. The chapter concludes with a summary providing an overview of the methodology, data collection, and research analysis process.

Research Design and Rationale

The demands of leading high poverty schools increased the importance of having an effective leader (Branch et al., 2013). Though efforts were underway for some time to address the needs of disadvantaged learners, researchers recommended schools change the mindset from focusing on the lack of student skills to that of strong leadership and instructional expertise (Stone-Johnson, 2014). School districts were concerned that

administrators may have been struggling to meet the needs of teachers and support the learning of students from low-income households.

Students' socioeconomic status had the strongest correlation to cognitive scores than any other factor in the research literature (Hanover Research, 2014). Low socioeconomic status students continued to struggle with literacy development, comprehension, and vocabulary (Mesmer & Hiebert, 2015; Smith et al., 2014).

According to a 2018 report by [REDACTED] Department of Education, 60% percent of elementary economically disadvantaged students, over 50% of middle grades economically disadvantaged students, and over 45% of high school economically disadvantaged students were not meeting the literacy benchmark in the southeastern United States; while 60% of children attending public school in the state lived in poverty (Suitts, 2015).

Research suggested of all the school-influenced factors contributing to student achievement; leadership was second in strength only to classroom instruction (Leithwood et al., 2004; Woods & Martin, 2016). Effective school leadership requires an individual to understand the complexity of the components and manage each associated with difficult environments and poverty (Klar & Brewer, 2013). According to Zheng et al. (2017), an administrator is responsible for establishing the priorities for teaching and learning in his/her school, and data did not serve as evidence that school leaders in the region determined effective transformational leadership behaviors that mediated instruction for struggling, low-income students.

The following research questions (RQs) guided the study:

RQ1: How do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement describe personal transformational leadership behaviors?

RQ2: What do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement perceive as supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors?

Through the study, I sought to explain how the central phenomenon of interest, the leadership behaviors of school administrators, was linked to the successful academic achievement of students from low-income backgrounds. In choosing the qualitative case study design for the study, I sought to explore how administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States with successful academic achievement described transformational leadership behaviors in addressing the phenomenon (see Hancock & Algozzine, 2006; Woods & Martin, 2016; Zheng et al., 2017). The behaviors were critiqued through the conceptual lens of transformational leadership theory. A qualitative methodology using the case study design established school administrators' current transformational leadership behaviors and perceived supports to leadership behaviors.

Qualitative research involves different orientations and approaches in different philosophical assumptions. The ontological assumption of qualitative study claims that reality is subjective and varied due to the different lens of each participant in the study, and the epistemological assumption is based upon the understanding that the researcher interacts with the participants (Babbie, 2017). Diverse orientations, approaches, and

assumptions produce new data collection and strategies for analysis. These different views on what is known, what may be known, and how it is known solicits an assertion that more than one way to conduct qualitative research is possible (Burkholder et al., 2016). However, it is important to acknowledge that the purpose behind a qualitative study is to analyze social behaviors and interactions of people and contexts through processes and constructs. Interpretive approaches focused on naturalistic methods through interviewing, observation, and analysis in order to collaboratively construct a meaningful reality (Burkholder et al., 2016). Knowledge emerged from the research process. While qualitative research requires a deep intensity and effort, it allows for the opportunity of discovery about the experiences, thoughts, ideas, and reflections of both the researcher and the participants.

The qualitative methodology using case study design allows a researcher to collect data through in-depth interviewing to investigate the phenomenon (Yin, 2014). Case study research originated from an interpretive paradigm in which the researcher sought to answer how and why questions (Singh, 2014). Researchers employing the case study design also introduce suspicions and provide insight into the phenomenon by offering rich descriptions of processes and individuals' experiences that the researcher could not obtain using quantitative data (Yin, 2013). The case study design is used by researchers to analyze structures and processes, obtain a thorough understanding of a group or situation, and give an exhaustive description of a phenomenon in context (Hancock & Algozzine, 2006).

Through the study, I intended to find the how, about leadership behaviors, and the why, concerning the reason schools experienced academic success with students from impoverished backgrounds (see Yin, 2014). The explanatory case study was used to seek answers to questions at a surface and deep level that could explain a connection between the phenomenon and the cause that were too complex for experimental strategies (see Yin, 2013). Also, I sought to explain the phenomenon in the data as a procedure of inquiry into transformational leadership behaviors (see Creswell, 2013).

Qualitative researchers seek to understand how things work by examining a few situational experiences in a deep and contemplative manner by looking for patterns and themes that may emerge (Babbie, 2017). Assuming the role as researcher in the study, I investigated school administrators' descriptions of current transformational leadership behaviors and perceived supports to leadership behaviors.

Role of the Researcher

As the researcher in the study, my role was comprised of reviewing literature about transformational leadership and effective school leadership, studying protocols for collecting data, interviewing participants, taking notes, transcribing data, analyzing transcripts and personal reflections, reviewing archival documentation, conducting data analysis to arrive at a conclusion, and reporting the findings from the research. As an educator for over 20 years, I have served in multiple roles, including teacher, curriculum specialist, assistant principal, principal, director, and currently as an assistant superintendent. As I had been employed as an administrator in a variety of settings, primarily those with high low socioeconomic populations, I understood the roles of

school administrators. While this might have been the case, each school posed its own unique and diverse characteristics which impact leaders' experiences.

As the researcher, I ensured methods were focused on observations of social phenomenon in a natural setting (see Babbie, 2017). My primary role as researcher was to collect and analyze data from participating administrators considering reflexivity in my identity, positionality, and subjectivities (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). No relationships involving power between myself and participants existed; therefore, ethical issues were minimized in the nature of the study. Although participants may have known me as a colleague, I included a statement in the letter of invitation to differentiate my role as student researcher. To further minimize bias and remain neutral, it was my intention to not use background knowledge of the individual or situation in analyzing responses of participants. I approached the questioning without any preconceived notions of expected outcomes.

During the individual interview session, the participant was considered the expert, and I was the learner by asking probing questions and ascertaining experiences, reflections, and feedback on the issue. I was obligated to be responsible in being honest, not pressuring the participants, and treating the individual with respect from beginning to end (see Babbie, 2017). The researcher-participant relationships remained professional and unbiased, asking only questions directly related to the study. School administrators were asked to review transcripts of the interviews for accuracy. I used further member-checking processes to ensure administrators' responses were clearly understood to

minimize misconceptions. Participants were also provided draft findings to check interpretation of personal data included in the findings and for viability in the setting.

In order to give a thorough and accurate perspective of the phenomenon being studied, my goal as researcher was to remain neutral and objective throughout the entire process. If at any time during the data collection I felt biased, I discussed this with my chairperson to receive guidance and move back to a more neutral position.

Methodology

I used a qualitative methodology using the case study design to explore how administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States with successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. Following, the study is explained including details relative to participant selection; instrumentation; procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection; and data analysis plan.

Participant Selection

The sites for the study were public schools in a district in the southeastern United States. According to [REDACTED] Department of Education in 2018, over 60% of the students qualified for free or reduced meal prices. The public-school district had over 5,000 students enrolled in the 2017-2018 school year. The demographics of the school district included 60% minority and 40% Caucasian. Over 8% of students were English learners and over 10% were students with disabilities.

According to Ravitch and Carl (2016), a sample is derived from a larger population based on specified criteria. For purposive sampling, the researcher determines

a group with the needed characteristics (Babbie, 2017). While purposive sampling does not yield the same degree of generalization as random sampling, this selective method was the best option for my study due to time and fiscal constraints associated with the study. The prospective participants chosen for the study included only current administrators within the school district who demonstrated success in academic achievement of students from low-income households; therefore, homogeneous sampling, a type of purposeful sampling, was chosen based on the school leaders being members in a group with similar characteristics (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The desired criteria for the study was based on the following criteria: (a) 3 or more years of experience as a school administrator and (b) current school administrator. Fourteen administrators from three schools in the district were selected as participants for the study. Administrators received an invitation to take part in the study by email. A consent form also accompanied the invitation. When school administrators agreed to participate, they were expected to respond to the emailed consent form stating consent before the interviews.

Instrumentation

Selection of appropriate instrumentation was an integral component when considering the purpose of a case study (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). In the study, semistructured interviews and personal reflections were selected as the sources for gathering data. All instruments used were appropriate in gathering information to answer the research questions thoroughly.

Face-to-face semistructured interviews. Meaningful and purposeful interviewing could lead to rich, thick, deep, personalized, and contextualized data

(Burkholder et al., 2016; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Babbie (2017) stated, "A qualitative interview is essentially a conversation in which the interviewer establishes a general direction for the conversation and pursues specific topics raised by the respondent" (p. 319). The qualitative interview process is about focusing on specific questions that analyzed at a deep understanding of the topic while respecting the participant (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). A productive qualitative interview enables the researcher to listen for rich and detailed information, posed open-ended questions, and allows for a flexible process of questioning to gain more understanding from the participant (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). By establishing a trusting relationship, asking questions skillfully, and listening actively, I could create the right conditions for a participant to speak openly and honestly. I used strong and rigorous research procedures while painting a relationship to establish comfort with the participant to maximize contribution to the study (see Babbie, 2017).

An interview guide served as a template to guide me and remind me of appropriate questions that were open-ended and not leading. Participants took part in an interview comprised of 11 open-ended questions (Appendix A). By crafting questions that used specific language, the tool helped to ensure I was asking questions that would elicit more in-depth responses from participants. Using the conventional interview approach of one-on-one interaction between participant and researcher, administrators provided insight by sharing personal descriptions of leadership behaviors in public schools in which most of students were from impoverished households, which provided enough data to examine the problem.

The interview guide was developed using the four facets of transformational leadership behaviors which include idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (see Bass & Avolio, 1994, 2004; Bass & Riggio, 2006). The open-ended questions were formatted to ascertain descriptions of administrators' current transformational leadership behaviors and supports to personal leadership behaviors (see Table 1).

Table 1

Research Questions and Related Interview Questions

Research Question	Interview Question
1. How do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement describe personal transformational leadership behaviors?	1, 2, 3, 4
2. What do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful personal achievement perceive as supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors?	5, 6, 7, 8

Personal reflection. Each participant had the opportunity to complete a short reflection survey to reflect on personal leadership behaviors (Appendix B). An adapted version of the survey entitled, *Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire* (MLQ) was used for data collection (see Bass & Avolio, 2004). Permission to use the MLQ was obtained through a remote online survey license, enabling the ability to retype, reformat, and score the instrument. Whereas the MLQ was a tool developed by Bass and Avolio (2004) to

measure transformational, transactional, and passive/avoidant leadership; only the transformational leadership components would be used for the purposes of the study. The tool was tested multiple times in more than 30 countries for reliability and validity in both public and private organizations regarding performance measures of both ratings and organization outcomes (Bass & Avolio, 2004). The MLQ had been used in educational settings to measure the transformational leadership behaviors of school leaders and was found to be both valid and reliable (Menon, 2014; Xu et al., 2016).

The use of the personal reflection survey allowed me to gain an understanding of how school administrators viewed personal leadership behaviors relative to those of transformational leadership (see Table 2). Administrators rated themselves ranging from 0 to 4, with 0 = not at all, 1 = once in a while, 2 = sometimes, 3 = fairly often, and 4 = frequently if not always. To assess perceptions of leadership behaviors, researchers used the MLQ extensively (Bass & Avolio, 2004).

Table 2

Transformational Leadership Behaviors and Related Descriptive Statements

Transformational Leadership Behaviors	Related Descriptive Statements
Idealized Influence	2, 6, 8, 10
Inspirational Motivation	4, 5, 11, 16
Intellectual Simulation	1, 3, 13, 15
Individual Consideration	7, 9, 12, 14

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

A letter of cooperation was obtained from the school district granting permission to authorize me to recruit school administrators for participation, collect data through one-on-one interviews and personal reflection surveys, send transcripts to participants of responses to the interview questions to ensure accuracy of personal responses and viability in the setting through member checking, and disclose the study's findings and recommendations to participants. Following approval of Walden University's Institutional Review Board (#07-11-19-0645572), school administrators were recruited to participate in the qualitative case study. Participants were notified of the study through email notification. The notification outlined the procedures, purpose of the study, and rights of participants. Individuals were asked to respond within 5 days of receipt, and participants were also notified that they could withdraw from the study at any time. Administrators gave consent to participating in the case study by responding to the email, and a signed copy of the consent form was obtained at the face-to-face interview. Once the individual responded by email, a date and time was selected to review the consent form in person and conduct the interview. Should a participant be unable to meet in person, a telephone interview could have been scheduled. All interviews were recorded and transcribed in the same manner.

Each participant interview was anticipated to last 45 to 60 minutes. To maximize the ability to gain rich, deep personal insights from the participants, the one-on-one interview method was chosen rather than another type of interviewing, such as focus groups. Each face-to-face interview occurred at the participant's workplace in a quiet

area, free from interruption if possible; however, a phone interview would have been granted if the participant chooses that option. By completing the interview at the participant's workplace, he/she could access any needed resources or references when responding to questions. Recording the interviews ensured that the analysis included all detailed responses shared by the participants. In order to provide clarification of responses to the questions, I recorded brief notes during the interviews when possible. Administrators were then asked to complete a reflective survey at the end of the interview on paper. At the conclusion of the scheduled appointment, the purpose of the study was reiterated. No plans for follow-up interviews or treatments for participants took place.

Following the interviews, the digitally recorded contents were transcribed into statements within one week of the scheduled discussion. Participants were allowed to review the transcripts to ensure discrepancies were avoided and intentions were accurately captured. A copy of the transcribed interviews was emailed to participants, and confirmation of agreement was solicited through a reply email. Once initial interpretation of the interview had been completed, participants were contacted a second time via email to review the draft findings to check for accuracy of interpretation of personal data used in the findings and for viability in the setting.

Data Analysis Plan

The strength of qualitative inquiry is that it produces substantive data committed to the integrity of participants' viewpoint and provides multiple perspectives of meaning in relation to the phenomena of social change being studied (Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Researchers who use the case study method collected, analyzed, summarized, and

interpreted data simultaneously while doing research (Yin, 2014). In data analysis, meaningful data presented by participants would be used to generate responses to research questions of the study (Babbie, 2017). Analysis of the data was intended to gather perceptions of a specific group of public school administrators by investigating descriptions of personal transformational leadership behaviors and supports to leadership behaviors.

Using the specific data tools of face-to-face interviews and personal reflections, research questions posed in the study could be thoroughly addressed. Each instrument served an intended purpose in the research process and provided data necessary for indepth analysis. Research questions were the focus of the study while concentrating on the conceptual framework of transformational leadership style as defined by a set of behaviors (Bass, 1985). All data tools had been developed and were chosen with these areas of focus in mind (Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Coding and analysis. Creswell (2013) promoted steps in analyzing data from qualitative research, which included collecting data, preparing data for analysis by transcribing notes, reading through data to gain a basic understanding, coding data by locating text segments and assigning code labels, coding text for description, and coding text for themes. Each data source was coded to ensure that analysis was in-depth and exhaustive. Relationships among individual codes were generated into categories as patterns or commonalities emerged for each data source (Saldana, 2016). Categories evolved into themes for each data source as an "outcome of coding, categorization, or analytic reflection" (Saldana, 2016, p. 15). I used *a priori* coding aligned to the

conceptual framework, then followed with open coding of all data collected, and finalized the coding process through axial coding. To assist with data analysis, I employed the computer-assisted qualitative data analysis program, HyperRESEARCH, to assist in creating codes, disseminating data into categories, and storing data effectively and securely (Babbie, 2017). Initially, *a priori* coding was outlined to reflect the facets of transformational leadership behaviors. Open coding was implemented to allow for labeling of data collected as topics emerged. The study's research questions were the focus for axial coding. At that time, I was able to develop categories and themes to develop the research findings (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Information was organized in a table noting the frequency of like responses listed in descending order from most to least to assist in distinguishing among relevant information as data were summarized and interpreted (Saldana, 2016).

Discrepant cases. Discrepant cases were not uncommon in qualitative research (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Although the negative or discrepant information might have initially presented contradictory patterns or explanations, refinement of the analysis continued until the cases could be explained or reformulated (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The relevant information or code was useful in the development of themes and might have revised, broadened, and confirmed patterns themes from data analysis (Creswell, 2013). Upon further analysis, themes were layered from simple to complex, or interrelated through connections of sequence (Babbie, 2017).

Through the process of evaluating data, it was the intention that information collected answer the research questions guiding the study. The expected responses to the

research questions addressed how administrators' behaviors in the school district perceived themselves as leaders who influenced the academic achievement of economically disadvantaged students. The responses revealed perceived supports to administrators' transformational leadership behaviors. The results of the study would be presented to the local school district for consideration.

Trustworthiness

Quality in research is essential because knowledge is influenced by the outcomes (Burkholder et al., 2016). I paid close attention to ensure trustworthiness and dependability were monitored throughout the process (Burkholder et al., 2016). Alignment of the purpose, research question, and methodology in the research design project was critical to ensure a unified and cohesive research study could promote positive social change by adding to the existing body of knowledge in school leadership. Triangulation from the multiple data sources of interviews and personal reflections allowed for analysis and convergence of themes (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Credibility was an essential component of the research design. Each participant reviewed his/her interview transcript to ensure accuracy of personal responses and viability in the setting through member checking (Saldana, 2016). By doing so, I structured "a study to seek and attend to complexity throughout a recursive research design process" (Ravitch & Carl, 2016, p. 188). Methods were aligned to the research questions, and evident patterns were expected to emerge from the analysis through the case study. Transferability would be achieved by providing a clear description of the context, allowing for transfer of the findings to similar contexts (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Dependability would be attained as

data were assessed using consistent methods through the research design (Babbie, 2017). The study was based on the perceptions of others; therefore, the use of validation strategies to obtain confirmability prevented my personal bias from overshadowing the outcomes of the research. A peer reviewer also was used through the data collection and analysis process to review transcripts, notes, and findings as an added measure to prevent personal bias (Burkholder et al., 2016). The individual fulfilled the minimum criteria of holding a doctorate degree, had experience in qualitative research methodology, and was knowledgeable of the most recent educational research.

Ethical Procedures

Every effort was made to protect the rights and well-being of all participants in the study. I sought permission to conduct the study from Walden University's Institutional Review Board. I followed procedures to ensure participants were protected and free from harm. To do so, the purpose of the study was balanced with the privacy of participants. Appropriate and proper ethical procedures were in place to ensure participants' rights were protected and no improprieties resulted.

Before the interview, I reviewed each participant's right of informed consent, what informed consent meant, why it was necessary, and his/her right to choose not to participate from that point further in the study. At the time of the interview, I conveyed to the participant who to contact if he/she had any questions. The digital recordings of the interviews were transcribed and saved as text files, and the recordings were then erased. The peer reviewer also signed a confidentiality agreement to protect the confidentiality of participants and sharing of data collected. For confidentiality purposes related to the

participants, I employed the use of pseudonyms and incorporated no other specific identifying information when sharing the case study findings. All collected data from interviews were transferred to a flash drive, stored in a locked file drawer at my home, and would remain for five years. Following the time retention of five years, the flash drive would be reformatted, erasing all contained data.

Summary

In the study, a qualitative methodology using the case study design explored how administrators of impoverished schools with successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. A case study approach was appropriate for the study as multiple data collection tools allowed for in-depth of analysis of the phenomenon of how leadership behaviors of school administrators linked to the successful academic achievement of students from impoverished backgrounds. The sample for the study consisted of 14 administrators from three public schools. Semistructured interviews and personal reflections were selected as sources for gathering data. During the face-to-face interviews, an interview guide served as a template to help me stay on track and be reminded of appropriate questions that were open-ended and not leading. By crafting questions that used specific language, the tool could help to ensure that I am asking questions that elicited more in-depth responses from the participant. Using the conventional interview approach of one-on-one interaction between participant and researcher, school administrators provided insight by sharing personal descriptions of leadership behaviors in public schools in which most students were from impoverished households, providing sufficient data to examine the problem. The interpretation of data

analyzed from interviews and personal reflections was synthesized to report findings and gain insight in the research questions from school administrators' descriptions as to how personal leadership behaviors influenced the academic outcomes of students from impoverished backgrounds. The study could be replicated and had potential to contribute to positive social change by soliciting a deeper understanding of effective leadership behaviors of administrators in high poverty schools and providing a benchmark for future studies exploring transformational leadership behaviors for successful school reform.

Chapter 4 will present the results of data collected.

Chapter 4: Results

In Chapter 4, I will present the findings of the research study as determined through data collection. The purpose of the qualitative case study was to explore how administrators of impoverished schools whose students demonstrated successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. The methods were aligned to the research questions, and evident patterns emerged from analysis through the case study. The study examined explanations of how the phenomenon of interest, the leadership behaviors of school administrators, was linked to successful academic achievement of students from poverty. The research questions guiding the study included:

RQ1: How do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement describe personal transformational leadership behaviors?

RQ2: What do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern

United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement

perceive as supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors?

Semistructured interviews and personal reflections were selected as sources for gathering data.

Chapter 4 provides detailed data solicited and received using the research method.

The following sections will be included: Setting, Data Collection, and Results.

Trustworthiness will also be discussed regarding the implementation strategies of

credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. The chapter concludes with a summary of data answering the research questions.

Setting

The study took place in three schools in a district instructing students from impoverished areas in the southeastern United States showing advancement of student learning. The student populations of the three schools enrolled at least 60% low-income as discerned by the status of free or reduced meals at school. Qualification of free or reduced meals was determined through eligibility criteria which included: a family's annual income and number of family members by birth, marriage or adoption living in the household (Katz & Shah, 2017). According to a 2018 [REDACTED] Department of Education report, schools demonstrated academic gains in the area of English Language Arts on state-mandated assessments. The public-school district from which the three sample schools were selected had over 5,000 students enrolled in the 2017-2018 school year. The demographics of the school district included 60% minority and 40% Caucasian. Over 8% of students were English language learners and over 10% were students with disabilities. Each school campus had approximately 400 students in each grade level and included elementary, middle grades, and high school levels. All three schools selected within the study enrolled many students from low socioeconomic households and recently demonstrated advancement of student learning as determined by state-mandated assessments in the area of English Language Arts.

Leaders chosen for participation with the study had at least 3 years of experience in administration. Of the 14 administrators recruited, 10 agreed to participate in the study.

Five participants were female and five were male. Three administrators were African American, and seven were Caucasian. Of the 10 participants, four school leaders were employed in elementary grades, four at middle grades, and two at the high school level. No changes in personal or organizational conditions occurred during the time of the study, which may have affected interpretation of the study results.

Data Collection

Selection of appropriate instrumentation is an integral component when considering the purpose of the case study (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). In my study, semistructured interviews and personal reflection surveys were selected as sources for gathering data to thoroughly answer the research questions. All participants completed face-to-face interviews and personal reflection surveys. No variations or unusual circumstances were encountered during the data collection from the plan presented in chapter three.

All interviews were conducted by me as the researcher. Each participant interview lasted 45 to 60 minutes and occurred at the participant's workplace in a quiet area, free from interruption. An interview guide served as a template to guide and be reminded of appropriate questions that were open-ended and not leading. Participants took part in an interview comprised of 11 open-ended questions, developed using the four facets of transformational leadership behaviors which included idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (see Bass & Avolio, 1994, 2004; Bass & Riggio, 2006). Open-ended questions had been formatted to ascertain descriptions of administrators' personal transformational leadership behaviors and

supports to leadership behaviors. Interviews were recorded to remain attentive to participants. All data were captured for availability after the session was over and to ensure accuracy of data recall.

After each interview session, participants completed a printed survey to reflect on personal leadership behaviors. An adapted version of the MLQ survey was used for data collection (see Bass & Avolio, 2004). Administrators rated themselves ranging from 0 to 4, with 0 = not at all, 1 = once in a while, 2 = sometimes, 3 = fairly often, and 4 = frequently, if not always. Completed personal reflection surveys were collected from the participants. To end the scheduled appointment, I reiterated the purpose of the study and informal consent reasserted.

Following the interviews, I transcribed the digitally recorded contents.

Transcriptions were emailed to participants for review, allowing for additions, deletions, and eventual approval. Participants were contacted a second time via email to review the topics that emerged from the interviews to check for accuracy of my interpretation of their data.

Data Analysis

For each tool, I used a specific data analysis strategy. Each recorded interview was transcribed into Microsoft Word files on my personal computer. I repeatedly read the interview transcripts to become familiar with the data collected. The transcriptions were then uploaded into the computer-assisted qualitative data analysis program, HyperRESEARCH, to organize the data analysis process (see Babbie, 2017). Each interview was analyzed for accuracy in interpretation until common participant responses

were grouped together. Information was organized in a table noting the frequency of like responses listed in descending order from most to least to assist in distinguishing among relevant information as data were summarized and interpreted (see Table 3). The frequency of occurrence of codes was noted for consideration in the analysis process; however, more emphasis was placed on whether the code was applied across multiple participants' responses.

Table 3

Data Codes from Face-to-Face Interviews

Code Label	Frequency of Occurrence					
Input from others	47					
Team approach	45					
Perspective	45					
Communication	43					
Lead by example	42					
Individualized motivation	40					
Expectations	40					
Mutual respect	40					
Idealized influence	36					
Supports	35					
Individualized consideration	34					
Building relationships	33					
Inspirational motivation	33					
Coaching	32					
Establish priorities	31					
Build community	31					
Gain insight	29					
Professional learning community	29					
Feedback	25					
Recognizing the potential of others	25					
Promote others	25					
Give ownership to others	24					
Supporting teachers	23					
Identify needs	20					
Classroom observations	18					
Professional development	15					
Open minded	14					
Accountability	14					
Cohesiveness	14					
Intentionality	14					
Listening	13					
Shared decision making	12					
Being visible	11					
Data analysis	10					
Take risks	10					
Stay connected to teachers	10					

Analysis of personal reflection surveys allowed me to gain an understanding of how school administrators viewed personal leadership behaviors relative to those of transformational leadership. Participants' responses for each of the descriptive statements were collectively analyzed to determine the degree to which they were used by school administrators. I entered each response into an Excel spreadsheet and calculated the average of ratings for each descriptive statement (see Table 4).

Table 4

Personal Reflection Survey Results

	Percentages (%)					
Survey Questions		Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently, if not always	
1. I re-examine critical assumptions to question	0	0	1.0	0.0	10	
whether they are appropriate.	0	0	10	80	10	
2. I talk about my most important values and	0	0	10	20	60	
beliefs.	0	0	10	30	60	
3. I seek differing perspectives when solving	0	0	0	5 0	7.0	
problems.	0	0	0	50	50	
4. I talk optimistically about the future.	0	0	0	20	80	
5. I talk enthusiastically about what needs to be						
accomplished.	0	0	0	10	90	
6. I specify the importance of having a strong sense			_			
of purpose.	0	0	0	60	40	
7. I spend time teaching and coaching.	0	0	10	40	50	
8. I go beyond self-interest for the good of the						
group.	0	0	0	40	60	
9. I treat others as individuals rather than just as a						
member of a group.	0	0	0	60	40	
10. I consider the moral and ethical consequences						
of decisions.	0	0	0	0	100	
11. I articulate a compelling vision of the future.	0	0	20	70	10	
12. I consider an individual as having different						
needs, abilities, and aspirations from others.	0	0	0	40	60	
13. I get others to look at problems from many						
different angles.	0	0	20	80	0	
14. I help others to develop their strengths.	0	0	30	40	30	
15. I suggest new ways of looking at how to						
complete assignments.	0	0	10	50	40	
16. I express confidence that goals will be						
achieved.	0	0	0	30	70	

Also, the descriptive statements from the personal reflection surveys were aligned to the applicable transformational leadership behavior to assess the extent of being employed (see Table 5).

Table 5

Personal Reflection Survey Results Aligned to Transformational Leadership Behaviors

	Percentages (%)					
Transformational Leadership Behaviors	Not at all	Once in a while	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently, if not always	
Idealized Influence	0	0	3	32	65	
Inspirational Motivation	0	0	5	32	63	
Intellectual Stimulation	0	0	10	65	25	
Individualized Consideration	0	0	10	45	45	

Themes

During the analysis of data collected from interviews and personal reflection surveys, three strong themes emerged throughout the study. Each aspect of the research supported the necessity of administrators intentionally building relationships among the school community. The next theme presented in data collection expressed the importance of administrators and teachers committing to collective efficacy. Lastly, data revealed that a culture of coaching was prevalent in each of the impoverished schools with successful academic achievement outcomes. Understanding the importance of themes addressed how administrators' leadership behaviors in the school district perceived themselves as leaders who influenced the academic achievement of economically

disadvantaged students. Also, school leaders' responses revealed perceived supports to transformational leadership behaviors.

Building relationships. The establishment of trusting relationships based on mutual respect among school leaders and school communities was vital. The administrators strived for teachers and students to reach personal highest potential. With the understanding for full potential to occur, school leadership had to know individuals by building genuine relationships based on compassion, empathy, respect, and communication. One administrator said,

For me, that means being a good listener, listening to the needs of the people that I interact with, and trying to make sure that I see the trust heart of the folks that I'm serving alongside or serving; so that I can make sure that my responses are not self-serving, but rather, for the good of the group.

To develop connections, relationships should be part of the school culture. A school leader shared "a culture of relationship building trumps strategy because it's incredibly difficult to support those you do not know in which meaningful relevance cannot take place." According to Louis (2015), school leaders leveraged relationships to foster stronger classroom practice and created supportive learning environments for both teachers and students.

Collective efficacy. The second theme evident throughout data was the need for a cohesive team led by the administrator with a clear sense of purpose through collective efficacy. School leaders perceived themselves to be individuals articulating vision, exhibiting high expectations, and holding followers accountable to fulfilling respective

roles in supporting the needs of one another and students. One administrator stated, "Vision starts with clarity. I have to make sure that I myself understand the vision for our school, meaning that I have to know what our ultimate destination is." The sense of purpose was communicated and kept at the forefront of everything that took place in the school. Another administrator shared, "You have to make sure that we're all on the same page from beginning which goes back to making sure that I establish an atmosphere of teamwork." School leaders consistently noted the importance of keeping the school community focused and not allowing factors outside of their control deter commitment to the vision. One school leader said:

We're going to verbalize what our expectations are, what our standards are, what our goals are, and then we're going to walk them out. We aren't just saying this to have something to do, we are all invested in it, and we won't lose focus of that.

Administrators and teachers held one another accountable by modeling expectations, reviewing goals within the context of data, posing questions, and planning collaboratively. An individual stated, "As an administrative team, we try to be frank that we don't have all the answers, but we can collectively address issues by embracing the strengths of our colleagues and focusing on our purpose." Teachers engaged in a collaborative culture when they felt valued and respected through aspects of shared and supportive leadership behaviors (see Carpenter, 2015).

Culture of coaching. School leaders were also committed to creating a culture of coaching by embracing the task of aligning equitable and effective learning experiences

across the school environment with determination and focus, so that teachers and students both thrived. A school leader shared:

It's about passing down whatever we can of our experience as educators. If we leave our teammates to learn exclusively from personal experiences, we're leaving students in a position where they might or might not get great instruction and support this year. Instead, we must insist that they will. Giving quality guidance to one another is critical to the development not only of the students but also of the teachers themselves.

Another administrator said, "Effective coaching makes us better at what we do. We have to practice the right things and acknowledge that our ways individually might not always be best." School leaders recognized the importance of supporting the professional growth of teachers and administrative teams by establishing environments in which people were willing to observe one another, give and receive feedback, and take risks. Vanblaere and Devos (2016) found professional growth related to transformational leadership should be centered around coaching and motivating teachers.

Discrepant cases. Discrepant cases are not uncommon in qualitative research (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). One participant's interview responses concentrated primarily on student interactions when providing examples of leadership behaviors and seemed negative toward teachers, which was contrary to other individuals. The administrator indicated that "if we're solely focused on what we're supposed to do for kids and not acquiesce to others, we're going to achieve the vision". From other comments made by the participant during the interview, it was evident that consideration had been given to

supporting teacher needs by creating buy-in for various initiatives, using teacher leaders for professional development, and seeking feedback from the school community. Although the outlier information might have initially presented contradictory patterns or explanations, refinement of the analysis continued until data could be explained or reformulated (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Upon further analysis, data were interrelated through connections of relevancy (see Babbie, 2017).

Analysis of the data gathered perceptions of a specific group of public school administrators by investigating descriptions of personal transformational leadership behaviors and supports to leadership behaviors. Using the specific data tools of face-to-face interviews and personal reflections, research questions posed in the study could be thoroughly addressed.

Results

The research study was supported by the conceptual framework of transformational leadership style as defined by a set of behaviors articulated by Bass (1985). Transformational leadership behaviors included building trust, acting with integrity, encouraging others, encouraging innovative thinking, and coaching and developing people (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bass & Riggio, 2006), and descriptions of administrators' leadership behaviors aligned to the behaviors. Three themes strongly emerged through the collected data analysis: building relationships, collective efficacy, and a culture of coaching.

Research Question 1

RQ1 asked the following: How do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement describe personal transformational leadership behaviors? Each participant shared transformational leadership behaviors applied while leading on school campuses from the analysis of personal reflection surveys. Idealized influence behaviors were implemented 97% of the time often or frequently, inspirational motivation behaviors were implemented 95% of the time often or frequently, and intellectual stimulation and individualized consideration behaviors were reported as being used 90% of the time often or frequently. T responses provided supporting evidence of the consistent use of transformational leadership behaviors. Participants perceived themselves as expressing great confidence that the goals set forth would be achieved. Administrators reported speaking optimistically about the future and communicated enthusiastically about what needed to be accomplished. School leaders considered the moral and ethical consequences as high priorities when making decisions. Participants reported looking upon staff as individuals having different needs, abilities, and aspirations. Information shared in the face-to-face interviews was very similar in nature. Administrators valued the necessity of relationships with teachers, students, and community members to earn respect and trust. Participants took roles as leaders seriously by clearly and continually communicating the vision while helping followers understand the need for intentional commitment. School leaders challenged others collectively and individually to strive for greatness by promoting a culture of coaching.

Relationships. All participants articulated the importance of building relationships as a foundational component within the school community. School administrators took responsibility for building relationships among staff, students, and families. Participants did not allow positions of authority to define relationships but actively pursued earning respect and trust of others. One administrator said, "I want to be genuine, though, because I don't want it to come across as fake or me just trying to manipulate them into respecting me, I want to earn that." Another administrator noted,

I think that respect has to be mutual, and I start by modeling respect with students, their parents, and my teachers. And a lot of that, for me means being a good listener by listening to the needs of the people that I interact with, and trying to make sure that I see the true heart of the folks that I'm serving alongside or serving, so I can make sure that my responses are not self-serving, but rather for the good of the group.

Growing mutual respect through building relationships was articulated by all administrators, and one stated, "I think extending trust means you get to know them by giving them some autonomy and showing that I'm willing to walk alongside them; and if they make mistakes, I'll be there for them." A participant also said,

I think if you were to show others respect, in most cases, it will be reciprocated.

And I think in the cases where it's not, like a student discipline situation, or something like that, there's something else going on behind why the respect is not given. Either the relationship hasn't been established first or something else may be going on in the private life of the student or the teacher as to why that happens.

Another administrator stated, "I think you build that relationship by showing that you're with them, and it's not an us versus them, whether it be the teachers, the students, or whoever. You have to earn it; it's not something that's given to you." One school leader said, "One of the keys to building relationships is to show respect of others. I think if you are degrading or disrespectful to other people, then it's makes it more difficult for them to respect you. If you can show respect to other people, even when you disagree, it helps build a mutual respect between individuals."

A school leader shared, "I'm not walking into any situation with any preconceived notions about someone based on where they come from, or where they live life. And doing more listening than talking." Another participant emphasized, "So having a chance to listen to kids, teachers, community members, or whoever it is, and receiving and listening to what their realities are, gives me some insight to get to know people." A school leader stated,

I think that I can perceive others' respect me, by the way they treat me when they're in front of me, but also the way they treat the things I asked them to do, the way they treat the information that I share with them, and then how they act about me when I'm not present.

All administrators noted the importance of building up others by intentionally incorporating others' ideas and as one noted "... finding ways to do that on a regular basis, to empower them to be able to speak, to have a voice, and to protect that voice for them." An administrator shared the importance of valuing the insight of others by "being able to go to them and ask them questions, ask them opinions about things that I'm

doing." A school leader shared, "You have to make sure to be able to maintain that perspective, and you've got to constantly be communicating with those who are right there, trying to doing the work." Another participant confirmed that in order to stay relevant as a leader, one must have been willing "to hear the voice of the people around [him/her] and to empower them to begin to speak out and talking about their conditions and what they're going through and what they see."

Collective efficacy. Interviews and surveys indicated participating administrators developed vision for schools, starting with a clear understanding for themselves. One participant shared,

I think that vision starts with clarity. I try to make sure that at first, I myself understand the vision for our school, as far as the social-emotional side of things as well as the academic piece. The vision means that I have to know what our ultimate destination is where we want to go.

School leaders helped others grasp the vision in a real and meaningful way. An administrator said, "I try not to be over complicated. I try to keep it simple and let the faculty know what our vision is for them and what our expectations are for them." Another school leader shared, "The students should understand that the end goal is to walk across that stage at graduation. We want them to visualize the reality of what it will be like to get that diploma." A participant stated, "Our faculty needs to realize where we're at, then what we want to be, and what it's going to take to get there. That's my job to help them see that." Another individual disclosed, "To cast a vision, we have to know where we're at currently and what we're trying to do. Without knowing where we are and

where to start, we don't really have a clear idea of how much we need to grow and what steps we need to take."

Administrators revealed communicating expectations associated with the vision should be clear and occur often until it becomes infused in the culture. A participant said the leader must "verbalize what our expectations are, what our standards are, what our goals are, and then we're going to walk them out." One administrator shared, "You can never say or speak of it too much. We revisit it in whole group meetings, in small group staff meetings, and one-on-one discussions. We try to keep the vision or the ultimate goal at the forefront of all the work we do." A participant noted, "We just don't talk about it all the time. I mean, I'm going to infuse it into what we do." Another added, "It's got to be something that we talk about every day, and we live it out. And I know it takes root when I hear my team members talking to other people about our vision and it's in their conversation."

All participants expressed the importance of allowing others the opportunity to actively participate in planning for improvement. A school leader stated, "I have to make sure that we're all on the same page from the beginning, and then it goes back to me making sure I establish an atmosphere of teamwork." A participant shared, "It's not ever going to be a thing where we're going to roll something out there, and then we're not going to invest in it either. We all have to be equally invested in the vision." One individual mentioned, "Let them go on that journey with you to find the best way to achieve the vision instead of just trying to figure it out along the way." Another participant said, "I think once you have shown others where you want to go, allow them

to be active participants and then more people are willing because they feel like they're part of something instead of you just telling them where they're going or what they should do." Also, administrators shared the importance of actively contributing to the school improvement process. One stated,

As we walk through developing improvement plans, I want to make sure that I can put my hand on the back of these individuals and let them know that I'm there for them to help; wanting to make sure that my team knows that throughout this process, they can always find me accessible. I'm not just going to tell them something and then shut the door on them.

Culture of coaching. From data collected during interviews and personal reflection surveys, all participants believed school environments should promote an atmosphere of continuous learning for staff and that learning should extend beyond the individual. One administrator stated, "A crucial factor is re-delivering to colleagues and peers. We try to make sure that the knowledge that we're all gaining is shared, so that it's common knowledge and not isolated knowledge." Another participant mentioned,

It's important at that moment to try and make sure that everybody understands, we're all on the same team. And we're here to learn and grow from each other. When the teachers are able to embrace the strengths of their colleagues and their own weaknesses, we found that the discussion is more beneficial for everybody involved.

All administrators reported a culture focused on coaching and not evaluation. A school leader expressed intentionality behind this effort by stating,

We have to make time to talk to each other and get ideas from each other or other perspectives. I'm making sure that there's no judgment, or when mistakes are made, that we have time to reflect and to regroup and fix those mistakes, rather than a becoming a reprimand or some kind of punitive action.

Another individual said ". . . part of that is keeping a safe environment and making sure that they feel like they can take risks."

While professional learning opportunities aligned to the school's vision and improvement plan, school administrators also recognized the unique needs of individuals. A participant mentioned, "I think we have to identify which staff needs the support first. Because not all, professional learning is one size fits all." Another individual said the school leader should ". . . figure out which teachers need it first, and then tailor your professional learning to what they need." A school leader expressed the importance of relevancy,

By setting up a professional growth mentality, we give our teachers professional learning, probably every week. We're touching base about something that revolves around what they're doing currently in the classroom. We're not just going in there and just giving them new tidbits of information, but it's applicable to the students they're serving and to the work they're doing. To help them with that, we constantly are monitoring our teachers in the classroom by finding their strengths and weaknesses and pouring into them beyond that.

Another administrator stated,

We're always going to try to support [their professional growth], and we're going to say yes. But we're also going to help them identify areas of growth that we think that they need and suggest those types of things. In our professional learning communities, when we see something that is kind of pervasive across the staff, that's going to be a focus in our professional growth settings.

Data revealed school leaders continually supported teachers by providing quality feedback. A participant shared, "In order to support them, we have to be transparent with the weaknesses that we see that revolve around our kids and teachers. And then, we determine professional learning that would then support those weaknesses by building professional capacity." Another school leader said, "We provide feedback that's appropriate for whatever their goals are, whatever their strengths and areas of growth. Then, they can see where I'm coming from and it's not a reprimand." An administrator noted.

Then, they're more open to constructive criticism or feedback, and in turn, you can start finding the places where they can grow in their capacity, whether it be going into the context of shadowing with somebody in the building as an expert, or going to another school, or whatever the case may be, they're more receptive.

Conclusion. The first research question focused on how administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. Each participant shared transformational leadership behaviors applied while leading school campuses. Behaviors focused on three themes –

relationships, collective efficacy, and a culture of coaching. Maintaining focus on themes enabled school administrators to interact with followers, share vision to support the success of students from impoverished backgrounds, collectively solve problems through critical thinking, and support the unique needs of individuals.

Research Question 2

RQ2 asked the following: What do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement perceive as supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors? All participants shared supports aligned to transformational leadership behaviors to promote organizational change as they interacted with followers. From the data collected, evidence showed administrators were committed to the success of both students and staff.

Relationships. Each administrator shared personal beliefs for the need to prioritize people over tasks. One individual said, "My role as the school leader is to be the biggest cheerleader of my staff." Another participant noted the importance of "listening, lending a listening ear to our teachers, and providing them that support because culture is huge here. We really just want to make sure that we build teacher rapport among each other, build positive relationships—not only just with admin and teachers, but with colleagues and our families." An administrator explained,

We have set a culture of community within our building and a shared vision. So we do that by just keeping the main thing, the main thing. Kids are first in all of the decisions that we make. And we talk about that often. And we know that our students won't achieve without relationships. So, we set apart time to build those

relationships, even just mere moments of time through greeting every child individually at the door every morning, conferring within a small group instruction, and getting to know individual kids. And then after that piece is a natural component that doesn't have to be thought about, then the academics layers in and we keep academics at the forefront.

A school leader explained that becomes a part of the school community when "teachers seem to have that sense of purpose. But they seem to because we're building relationships with kids and they see a need. And they're very driven and very motivated to want to help solve problem solve. And their input is encouraged."

School leaders reported establishing relationships with others through communication by soliciting a diverse range of perspectives. One participant shared,

I'm not walking into any situation with any preconceived notions about someone based on where they come from or where they live life. And I have to do more listening than talking. I think a lot of times, we, not just as educators, but as people, sometimes think a certain way in where we have biases and things of that nature. So having a chance to listen to kids, teachers, community members, or whoever it is, and receiving and listening to what their realities are, gives me insight to get to know people.

An administrator said, "It's always very important to take everybody's perspective into account and have a working knowledge of that perspective. If you just sit back, point, and just tell them what to do, then at some point they will resent you." Each participant emphasized the necessity of getting feedback prior to decision-making and

being respectful of other viewpoints. A school leader shared, "I have to be fully aware of myself, who I'm talking to, and where are my conversations leading. If I talk to too many of the same folks, then I'm only getting one perspective. This will create a huge gap to exist." Another individual stated, "Very rarely do I make a decision just solely by myself. I like to bounce things off of people. We discuss it, we talk about it and figure out what's best for our school and for our students and our teachers." A school leader also said, "I have to keep a pulse on my school community. What are people's likes and dislikes? What do they like about the things that happen at school? What are they frustrated with? And we use that to help us make changes well and considering more than just my viewpoint." An administrator stated,

We're all different, kids are all different people, all different backgrounds. I think as a leader, it's more about everybody else and less myself. And that's one thing that I try to make sure that I'm thinking about every day. It's not about whatever I want, it's about what's best for our school community. And that's really the one thing that I try to keep in mind every day.

Collective efficacy. From data collected, participants emphasized the necessity of holding one another accountable, particularly through data analysis. An administrator noted, "With data, we do things like showing them current levels of performance, and the ultimate goal, and some benchmark numbers where we would be able to see incremental success along the path." Each administrator shared how visual displays are used to track progress. One participant said the data room was "where we track student progress. And

that sounds really quantitative, and it is to a degree, but our purpose as an educator is largely to make sure our students are prepared." Another participant stated,

Our data room allows us to track every individual student. And it's a visual that allows us to see which kids are moving and which kids are not. And seeing these children who have a variety of different backgrounds who come from diverse settings, progressing toward the ultimate goal of being literate students, helps remind us of our purpose as educators.

Another school leader said,

The ownership or accountability for that progress rests on every teacher in this building. We have collaborative meetings where we review data. And in those meetings, each teacher is responsible for breaking down his or her data, looking at which kids have achieved at certain levels, and then moving those kids physically on the levels of progression or regression. And when the teachers do that, in the data room, they take a level of pride and a level of burden on their shoulders. And that sounds like a negative connotation. But truly, it's a privilege because they're able to see that the work they're pouring in is reflected in their students. And they own that data. And as a result, of course, I own those kids.

Administrators also established structures to promote shared decision making to expand ideas for the purpose of producing better outcomes in teaching and learning.

Multiple participants revealed this happened "through collaborative planning and discussion" as they collectively "engaged in shared problem solving". Each school campus had a wide range of professional learning communities, including: school

leadership teams, grade level/department teams, operational teams, vertical teams, school governance teams, and parent volunteer organizations. An individual shared, "It's important to make sure that everybody understands, we're all on the same team and we're here to learn from each other. So, when the teachers are able to embrace the strengths of their colleagues and their own weaknesses, we found the discussion is more beneficial for everybody involved." A participant shared, "We have to constantly be really looking for the different angles and not letting it just rest on the first thing said. I think allowing that wait time, digging further, playing some 'what if' scenarios, trying to play devil's advocate." A participant stated,

There's power when they realize they're dealing with similar issues, but there is more than one way to solve through a process to work through a problem.

Because a teacher may want to handle it one way and see another teacher has a different way. That doesn't mean one way is better than the other. It's just a different way. I think exposure to those things is important and being able to have conversations about what's going on the building without thinking that you're trying to say that this teacher's doing better than you are.

School leaders provided other structures mitigating barriers to students learning and teachers' instructional practices. Each participant mentioned the importance of meeting the needs of the "whole child", whether that be academic, social/emotional, behavioral, or basic needs of the individual. School leaders worked with district leaders and community members to mobilize resources through the assistance of system-level structures and processes, enabling the schools to prioritize efforts. One individual stated,

"I think it's just the collaborative effort of everyone here. Our school community really pulls around to support our students." Administrators focused on protecting instructional time and ensuring teachers had needed resources. Multiple leaders said it was about "listening to teachers' needs" and then "connecting them to the resources". A participant shared the goal is "to create an environment where the teachers can do their jobs. It is really about making sure that they have everything they need to teach their class and then for the kids to get that teaching."

Culture of coaching. While administrators fostered the development of teachers, they actively sought opportunities to grow personal leadership competencies. Each mentioned regularly meeting with groups and colleagues to reflect upon leadership behaviors and learn from experiences to increase opportunities for success in the future. Participants paid careful attention to keep the things that worked and noted improvements for the future. An administrator also stated,

One of the things that I feel like I have to do is I have to come to the table prepared, so prepping myself. It's one thing to stand in front of a group of individuals and just talk just because you might be a content expert. That's all well and good, but you've got to really be able to tell the story of what it is that you're looking at. I have to start with a great deal of time being given to studying what it is that I'm wanting to work on. When I come to the table, [teachers] see that there's a vested interest. It's not just another thing being given to them from the top down. I want teachers to feel passionate about their work in supporting our students.

Data revealed that administrators took time to model for and question followers to assist in reaching highest personal potential. By being actively engaged in professional learning with teachers, school leaders were able to articulate expectations in how to challenge the growth of the team and individuals. A participant said,

We sit with our teachers, we hear a problem, and then we give them free time to talk it through. And if they aren't talking it through, then we act as that facilitator and guide them through questioning. We will ask questions that intentionally cause a discussion among teachers to talk about their own perspective, but to also intentionally listen to the perspective of other people.

Another administrator noted,

We're not afraid to say as an administrative team, we missed the mark in this area. And here's what we're going to do to modify or change going forward. When teachers see us do that, they feel more comfortable doing it themselves. And then as a result, they also feel more comfortable letting their children take risks in the classroom. So I think it's about modeling that culture, asking questions, and being mindful of when teachers do approach us with questions that we are welcoming to that and we don't make them feel less than for being uncertain in some areas.

Administrators also did the same for students. A school leader stated,

We're going to model what we're trying to get accomplished. If we're asking kids to be more successful in a certain area, then I have to set the example by taking care of the little things to make sure that we take care of the big things—our work ethic, how we treat people, and how we do things.

As evident in data collected, all school leaders clearly stated the importance of building the leadership capacity of others. A school leader said,

A lot of times teachers will sit down and say, well, they're just not, or they can't, or list of a variety of reasons why factors outside of the school are causing that deficit [with our students]. But then, there are always a few outliers in the room, teachers, who are seeing success with a similar group. In that moment, it's important to make the person who is seeing a success, comfortable enough to share the practices and strategies they're using.

School administrators reported intentionally seeking out individuals who demonstrated effective leadership skills. Teacher leaders facilitated the various professional learning communities, and those individuals met frequently with administrators for coaching.

Conclusion. The second research question focused on what school administrators perceived as supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors for the purpose of successful achievement outcomes of students from impoverished backgrounds. As referenced in data, each member of the school community took an active role in the team. The administrators of schools led the charge. Without the commitment of individuals attending to building positive relationships, pushing followers to stay focused on the vision collectively, and coaching one another to keep pushing forward, successful outcomes of students from low socio-economic households would likely have not occurred.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Establishing trustworthiness in the research results was essential because knowledge was influenced by the outcomes (Burkholder et al., 2016). Implementation of strategies related to credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability outlined in Chapter 3 were executed as articulated and without adjustment. Data collection was aligned to the purpose, research questions, and conceptual framework of the research study.

Triangulation and member checking provided credibility in the research findings. Before each data collection period, I reviewed the research process by reviewing the codified procedures establishing my role as researcher. At the beginning of each interview session, I practiced transparency with participants to clearly outline an overview of my research, explain the instruments used for data collection, and provide an opportunity to address any questions. I also reflected upon the process immediately following each session. Triangulation from multiple data sources of interviews and personal reflections allowed for analysis and convergence of themes (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Each participant reviewed his/her interview transcript to ensure accuracy of personal responses and viability in the setting through member checking (Saldana, 2016). By doing so, I structured "a study to seek and attend to complexity throughout a recursive research design process" (Ravitch & Carl, 2016, p. 188). The methods were aligned to the research questions, and evident patterns were expected to emerge from data analysis through the case study approach.

I demonstrated the likelihood of transferability by providing a clear description of the context, allowing for application of the findings to similar contexts (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The prospective participants chosen for the study included only current administrators within the school district who demonstrated success in academic achievement of students from low-income households; therefore, homogeneous sampling, a type of purposeful sampling, was chosen based on school leaders being members in a group with similar characteristics (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Although transferable information from the study would be made available to other schools that served students from impoverished backgrounds, findings were not generalizable because the case study was not considered broad but narrow through a bounded system of interest (Yoon, 2016).

Using detailed methods and contextual information through the research design, dependability could be attained as the research process could be replicated and findings consistent (Babbie, 2017). To assist with data analysis, I employed a computer-assisted qualitative data analysis program, organizing the analysis process and storing data effectively and securely for each interview transcript (Babbie, 2017). Initially, *a priori* coding was used to reflect facets of transformational leadership behaviors. Open coding was implemented to allow for labeling of data collected as additional topics emerged. The study's research questions were the focus for axial coding (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). At which time, I was able to develop themes to develop the research findings.

The study was based on the perceptions of others; therefore, use of validation strategies to obtain confirmability prevented my personal bias from overshadowing the outcomes of the research. A peer reviewer was used through data collection and analysis

process to review transcripts, notes, and findings as an added measure to prevent personal bias (Burkholder et al., 2016). The individual fulfilled the minimum criteria of holding a doctorate degree, had experience in qualitative research methodology, and was knowledgeable of the most recent educational research. Alignment of the purpose, conceptual framework, research questions, and methodology in the research design project was critical through data collection to ensure a unified and cohesive research study could promote positive social change by adding to the existing body of knowledge in school leadership. Triangulation from multiple data sources of interviews and personal reflections allowed for analysis and convergence of themes (Ravitch & Carl, 2016) and served as an intentional goal of the study.

Summary

In the study, a qualitative methodology using case study design explored how administrators of impoverished schools with successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. The approach enabled in-depth analysis of the phenomenon of how leadership behaviors of school administrators, was linked to successful academic achievement of students from impoverished backgrounds. Analysis of data collected revealed three strong themes. Each aspect of the research supported the necessity of administrators intentionally building relationships among the school community. The next theme presented in data collection expressed the importance of administrators and teachers committing to collective efficacy. Lastly, data analysis revealed that cultures of coaching was prevalent in each of the impoverished schools with successful academic achievement outcomes.

Understanding the importance of themes addressed how administrators' behaviors in the school district perceived themselves as transformational leaders who influenced academic achievement of economically disadvantaged students. Relationships built on respect and trust with the school community was a foundational component articulated by all participants, while also valuing the insight of others. Administrators advanced collective efficacy by clearly defining the vision, communication expectations, and facilitating a team approach. A culture of coaching was instilled in the school community as individuals shared professional knowledge with others. Also, school leaders worked to balance understanding the unique needs of individuals through providing quality feedback.

Responses revealed perceived supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors associated from the three themes as well. Administrators shared beliefs for the need to prioritize people over tasks and established relationships with others through communication by soliciting a diverse range of perspectives. Data collected presented the necessity of holding one another accountable and providing structures to remove barriers for teaching and learning. While administrators fostered the development of teachers, they actively sought opportunities to grow personal leadership competencies. Data revealed that administrators took time to model for followers and pose questions to assist teachers in reaching personal highest potential, serving to build up the leadership capacity of others.

Chapter 5 will conclude the research study by offering an interpretation of findings related to the current literature supporting the conceptual framework of

transformational leadership behaviors within the context of the educational setting.

Following, the limitations to trustworthiness that may have arose from completing the study, recommendations for further research, and the potential impact for positive social change will be presented.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of the qualitative case study was to explore how administrators of impoverished schools whose students demonstrated successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. The study was based on the conceptual framework of transformational leadership style as defined by a set of leadership behaviors (see Bass, 1985). A synthesis of research revealed of all school-influenced factors contributing to what and how students learn at school, leadership was second in strength only to classroom instruction (Leithwood et al., 2004; Radinger, 2014; Young et al., 2017). Research on administrators' perspectives of how leadership behaviors affected student performance was limited among students from impoverished backgrounds. The lack of research indicated a gap in knowledge of administrators' leadership behaviors related to the subgroup. I examined explanations of how the phenomenon of interest, the leadership behaviors of school administrators, was linked to successful academic achievement of students from poverty. The research questions guiding the study included:

RQ1: How do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement describe personal transformational leadership behaviors?

RQ2: What do administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement perceive as supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors?

Key findings from the study aligned to the conceptual framework. Through data collection and analysis, three strong themes emerged throughout the study. Each aspect of research supported the necessity of administrators intentionally building relationships among the school community. The next theme presented in data collection expressed the importance of administrators and teachers committing to collective efficacy. Lastly, data revealed that cultures of coaching were prevalent in the impoverished schools with successful academic achievement outcomes. The themes addressed how administrators' behaviors in the school district perceived themselves as leaders influencing academic achievement of economically disadvantaged students. Responses revealed perceived supports to transformational leadership behaviors.

Interpretation of the Findings

Through the study, I sought to explain how the phenomenon of interest, the leadership behaviors of school administrators, was linked to successful academic achievement of students from impoverished backgrounds. In choosing the qualitative case study design for the study, I sought to explore how administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States with successful academic achievement described transformational leadership behaviors in addressing the phenomenon (see Hancock & Algozzine, 2006; Woods & Martin, 2016; Zheng et al., 2017). An interpretation of research findings is presented below and then compared to the peer-reviewed literature from Chapter 2.

Research Question 1

The first research question focused on how administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students have demonstrated successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. The conceptual framework for the study was based on transformational leadership as operationally defined by a set of leadership behaviors that fostered successful organizational change as leaders interacted with followers (see Bass, 1985). The behaviors exhibited by transformational leaders included idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bass & Riggio, 2006).

Each participant shared transformational leadership behaviors applied on school campuses. School leaders strongly influenced the learning environment and that of the work of teachers and staff (see Baptiste, 2019; Vanblaere & Devos, 2016). Maintaining focus on transformational leadership behaviors enabled school administrators to interact with followers, share vision to support the success of students from impoverished backgrounds, collectively solve problems through critical thinking, and support the unique needs of individuals.

Relationships built on respect and trust with the school community was a foundational component articulated by all participants, while also valuing the insight of others. Damanik and Aldridge (2017) referenced the importance of professional interactions in building trust and engaging with staff members. Administrators placed a high priority on considering the moral and ethical consequences of decisions. A

transformational leader was respected and trusted by followers; and the leader was recognized with "exceptional abilities, endurance and determination" by those individuals (Stump et al., 2016, p. 83). Also, school leaders said a concerted effort was made to think beyond personal interests for the good of the group by listening to others.

Transformational leadership involved behaviors in which administrators engaged and solicited team members to become actively involved in assessing the needs of the school culture for improvement through building a shared vision and mission (Damanik & Aldridge, 2017). Data confirmed the findings of the literature review.

Administrators advanced collective efficacy by clearly defining the vision, communication expectations, and facilitating a team approach. Mombourquette (2017) emphasized the necessity of administrators understanding the importance of identifying a shared vision, communicating vision, centering the efforts of the school community on achieving the vision, and celebrating successes. Participants spoke optimistically about the future and with confidence when giving the charge for what was needed. According to Makgato and Mudzanani (2019), school leaders lead teachers by inspiring toward a deeper sense of purpose while contributing to the transformation movement by working collectively to overcome challenges and achieve common goals. Successful distribution of leadership was likely to depend greatly on the collaborative nature among leaders, whereby characteristics of openness, mutual trust, and communication existed (Cansoy, 2019; Wang et al., 2016). Teachers' perceptions of transformational leadership are connected to participation through insightful dialogue and the existence of collective

responsibility (Vanblaere & Devos, 2016). The research noted in the literature review and the study's results concurred.

Cultures of coaching were instilled in the school communities as individuals shared personal professional knowledge with others. School leaders worked to balance understanding the unique needs of individuals by providing quality feedback. Vanblaere and Devos (2016) found professional growth related to transformational leadership should be centered around coaching and motivating teachers, which could be a difficult challenge due to the interdependence of awareness, attitudes, and personal styles.

Administrators understood the weaknesses of followers and worked to support followers' strengths. Transformational leaders stretched the mindset of followers by empowering to constantly question and assess the effectiveness of problem solving from a creative and thoughtful viewpoint (Stump et al., 2016). The research study supported information presented in the literature review.

Research Question 2

The second research question focused on what school administrators perceived as supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors for the purpose of successful achievement outcomes of students from impoverished backgrounds. As referenced in data, each member of the school community should take an active role in the team.

Administrators of the schools led the charge. Without the commitment of individuals attending to building positive relationships, pushing followers to stay focused on the vision collectively, and coaching one another to keep pushing forward, successful

outcomes of students from low socioeconomic households would likely have not occurred.

Administrators shared personal beliefs for the need to prioritize people over tasks and build relationships with others through communication by soliciting a diverse range of perspectives. Administrators continually sought feedback from teachers, students, parents, and community members. School leaders leveraged relationships to foster stronger classroom practice and created supportive learning environments for both teachers and students (Louis, 2015). School administrators creating cultures of confidence and trust helped provoke teachers to strive for a greater concentration on effort and achievement and work better with one another in solving the challenges faced (Tschannen-Moran & Gareis, 2015). School leaders propagated teacher empowerment by providing opportunities for shared decision making, improving the school climate, establishing positive communication mechanisms, and building relationships of trust (Balyer et al., 2017). The opportunities allowed for educators to work collaboratively by capitalizing upon the team's strengths, supporting disadvantaged students' academic success with intentionality, and nurturing a positive and meaningful climate resulting from strategic improvement goals (Christiansen & Robey, 2015). School administrators learned to balance the efforts of teachers, students, and community members, while working to strengthen the overall school environment (Xu et al., 2016). The study's data supported research from the literature review.

Data collected presented the necessity of holding one another accountable and providing structures to remove barriers of teaching and learning. Christiansen and Robey

(2015) posited the role of school leaders in setting the tone for the culture enabled schools to transform into an environment focused on teacher and student learning, teaching, and operational structures of support. Transformational leadership behaviors called for creating a culture focused on learning through routine communication of the mission, vision, values, and goals; approaching curriculum focused on student learning and quality instruction; empowering teachers to view themselves as leaders; providing teachers with needed information and staff development to make decisions that promote learning; and facilitating systems enabling collaborative work focused on teaching and learning (Woods & Martin, 2016). Administrators established structures to promote shared decision making to expand ideas for the purpose of producing better student achievement outcomes as noted in the literature.

Each participant provided examples of teacher led teams that assessed current practices, made recommendations, and improved initiatives based on data and feedback from others. Litz and Scott (2017) promoted creating a shared vision, improving effectiveness, establish high expectation, and building instructional capacity as necessary elements of strong leadership to achieve positive change. School leaders posited transformational leadership focused on results and underscored success. When led with a transformational style, teachers voluntarily followed administrators' direction by taking ownership of shared improvement goals and basing decisions on systematic data collection directly related to classroom instructional behaviors (Yoon, 2016).

Transformational leadership was important within the structure of decision making as certain behaviors overlapped with factors that promote data, such as creating a shared

vision (Stump et al., 2016). The research study supported information articulated in the literature review.

While administrators fostered the development of teachers, they actively sought opportunities to grow personal leadership competencies. A school leadership effectiveness structure cannot be determined without first identifying what the administrator's role in the school is (Zheng et al., 2017). According to Ross and Cozzens (2016), administrators adjust leadership behaviors to support innovation, collaboration, diverse thinking, reflection, and professionalism to improve academic achievement.

Transformational school leaders analyze both organizational strengths and weaknesses to better identify areas of needed improvement and proactively plan for essential changes (Yoon, 2016). The study's data supported research from the literature review.

Data from my study revealed administrators took time to model for followers and pose questions to assist followers in reaching fullest personal potential while serving to build up the leadership capacity of others. A transformational leader buffers teachers from external distractions by supporting collaboration of teachers and providing individualized support and consideration (Dutta & Sahney, 2016). Teachers engage in a collaborative culture when feeling valued and respected through aspects of shared and supportive leadership behaviors (Carpenter, 2015). According to Klar et al. (2016), aspects of the school structures that focus on a collective purpose and values, collaborative culture, and problem solving process, and continuous improvement promote distributed leadership and build leadership capacity for school reform. Administrators who demonstrated success were motivated to build capacity due to the needs of teachers

and students by pointing to four phases in the cultivation of leadership process: identification of potential leaders, creation of leadership opportunities, facilitation of a transition in roles, and continuous support (Klar et al., 2016). These points were confirmed through data analysis and literature review.

Limitations of the Study

Most of the limitations posed in Chapter 1 were sustained throughout the study as results could not be generalized due to the small sample size; however, schools with similar populations might find transferability through descriptive statistics. Researchers conducting case studies should be aware of any biases that may be prevalent to ensure sensitivity and integrity to not affect the outcome (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Biases could have occurred naturally because I was an employee of the school district participating in the study, but interview questions had been reviewed by another individual to ensure that those posed were open-ended and not leading to a desired outcome. To avoid any biases that might have influenced the results of the study, I focused on research questions and practiced firm adherence to data collection procedures. A small group of administrators participated in the study, so the lack of qualitative data from teachers presented a limitation in the findings. Initially, I was concerned that perceptions about leadership behaviors might not have been fully aligned to transformational leadership presented in the background literature which would have inhibited participants from expressing ideas in accordance with the conceptual framework; however, that was not the case based on data collected.

Recommendations

A synthesis of research revealed of all the school-influenced factors contributing to what and how students learn at school, leadership was second in strength only to classroom instruction (Leithwood et al., 2004; Radinger, 2014; Young et al., 2017). Research on administrators' perspectives of how leadership behaviors affected student performance was limited among students from impoverished backgrounds. According to Zheng et al. (2017), an administrator was responsible for establishing the priorities for teaching and learning in his/her school, and data did not serve as evidence that many school leaders determined effective leadership behaviors that mediated instruction for struggling, low-income students. The lack of research indicated a gap in knowledge of administrators' leadership behaviors related to the subgroup. The study was a logical step for inquiry based on data and the aforementioned literature. The purpose of the qualitative case study was to explore how administrators of three impoverished schools in the southeastern United States whose students demonstrated successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. Participants of the study included only current administrators within the school district who demonstrated success in academic achievement of students from low-income households. Of the 10 participants, four school leaders were employed in elementary grades, four at middle grades, and two at the high school level.

Due to a small sample size from a specific location, a primary limitation of the study was the lack of generalizability of study results. Future researchers should consider reproducing the qualitative case study with school administrators in other areas who have

demonstrated success in academic achievement of students from low-income households to ascertain if the results can be replicated. The replication of findings from the research study may increase the generalizability of the study's outcomes.

Leithwood and Azah (2017) explored mission, visions, and goals; instructional systems; data usage; improvement processes; professional development; leadership development; and relationships among stakeholder groups; however, the study only concentrated on the perceptions of school leaders. A study soliciting feedback from teachers and parents about transformational leadership behaviors of administrators may lead to greater insights, yielding a complete view of impoverished schools in the southeastern United States with successful academic achievement.

Administrators who exercised effective leadership behaviors could recognize instructional strategies connecting teachers' classroom behaviors that determined students' strengths and weaknesses with individualized levels of needed support (Muthler, 2015). Whereas the research study was intended to yield informative explanations of how leadership behaviors of school administrators were linked to successful academic achievement of students from poverty, a new inquiry can be posed to determine if the same conceptual framework might be appropriate for other student groups. The potential research could offer study outcomes to support success of students with other learning needs.

Implications

In the study, findings have the potential to contribute in creating positive social change for school leaders who serve students from economically disadvantaged

households. After classroom instruction, school leaders were the second most influential school-related factor affecting student achievement as priorities focused on teaching and learning (Radinger, 2014; Young et al., 2017). The influence of school administrators on instruction and student learning "is layered, complex, and, most importantly, bounded" (Donaldson, 2013, p. 842). The study adds new knowledge to existing literature upon which future studies may build to extend school leadership and reform of systems and structures by acknowledging the relevancy of relationships, building collective efficacy, and establishing a culture of coaching.

By researching perspectives of administrators regarding personal leadership behaviors relating to successful student achievement outcomes, impactful social change can be offered to influence other school leaders' behaviors. Social change was a platform for scholarly research to expand insight for addressing the issues and challenges of today's society through evidence-based behaviors. The study identified areas in which school administrators can gain professional capacity, knowledge, and skills to more effectively use transformational leadership behaviors. Administrators valued the necessity of relationships with teachers, students, and school communities in working to earn respect and trust. Participants took the role of school leader seriously by clearly and continually communicating the vision, while helping individuals understand the need for intentional commitment. School leaders challenged others collectively and individually to strive for greatness by promoting a culture of coaching. Supporting learning through effective transformational leadership behaviors may also contribute to student achievement increases in schools of disadvantaged contexts.

As accountability measures become more prevalent, continuous school improvement efforts must be aligned to evidenced-based behaviors (Woods & Martin, 2016). Hagel (2014) supported the idea school administrators could positively affect student achievement, particularly in schools from disadvantaged areas, by being aware of personal leadership behaviors and putting those into action by focusing on improvement. School leaders' roles were to guide and support positive school change. School leaders built relationships with others through communication by soliciting a diverse range of perspectives. Participants emphasized the necessity of holding one another accountable, mainly through data analysis. Administrators also established structures to promote shared decision making to expand ideas, producing better outcomes in teaching and learning. While administrators fostered the development of teachers, they actively looked for opportunities to grow personal leadership competencies. Administrators took time to model for and question followers to assist followers in reaching highest personal potential. Outcomes of the study may also be used to inform school leadership programs and present considerations for school improvement.

Conclusion

Reform in the educational system compelled school leadership to think differently in response to the changing needs of students, growing professional capacity of teachers, and outcries from communities (Ross & Cozzens, 2016; Young et al., 2017). Effective transformational leadership behaviors shown through prior research to positively impact student achievement were not being consistently and pervasively implemented in public schools (Kellar & Slayton, 2016; Mombourquette, 2017; Stump et al., 2016). In the

study, a qualitative methodology using case study design explored how administrators of impoverished schools with successful academic achievement described personal transformational leadership behaviors. A case study approach was appropriate for the study as multiple data collection tools allowed for in-depth analysis of the phenomenon of how leadership behaviors of school administrators was linked to successful academic achievement of students from impoverished backgrounds. The inquiry was supported by the conceptual framework of transformational leadership style as defined by a set of behaviors articulated by Bass (1985). Transformational leadership behaviors included building trust, acting with integrity, encouraging others, encouraging innovative thinking, and coaching and developing people (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bass & Riggio, 2006). Data were collected from individual interviews and personal reflection surveys of administrators of public schools in which at least 50% of the student population was from low socioeconomic circumstances. Using the conventional interview approach of one-onone interaction between participant and researcher, school administrators provided insight by sharing personal descriptions of transformational leadership behaviors in public schools in which most students were from impoverished households, providing sufficient data to examine the problem. The interpretation of data analyzed from the interviews and personal reflections were synthesized to report findings and garnered insight in the research questions.

Analysis of data collected revealed three strong themes throughout the study.

Each aspect of research supported the necessity of administrators intentionally building relationships among the school community. The next theme presented in data collection

expressed the importance of administrators and teachers committing to collective efficacy. Lastly, participants' responses revealed that a culture of coaching was prevalent in each of the impoverished schools with successful academic achievement outcomes.

Themes addressed how administrators' behaviors in the school district perceived themselves as transformational leaders who influenced academic achievement of economically disadvantaged students. Relationships in the school community built on respect and trust were a foundational component articulated by all participants, while also valuing the insight of others. Administrators advanced collective efficacy by clearly defining the vision, communication expectations, and facilitating a team approach. A culture of coaching was instilled in the school community as individuals shared professional knowledge with others. Also, school leaders worked to balance understanding the unique needs of individuals through providing quality feedback.

Responses revealed perceived supports to personal transformational leadership behaviors associated from the three themes as well. Administrators shared beliefs for the need to prioritize people over tasks and built relationships with others through communication by soliciting a diverse range of perspectives. Data collected presented the necessity of holding one another accountable and providing structures to remove barriers for teaching and learning. While administrators fostered the development of teachers, they actively sought opportunities to grow personal leadership competencies. Data revealed that administrators took time to model for followers and posed questions to assist followers in reaching personal potential, serving to build up the leadership capacity of others.

The study can be replicated and contributes to positive social change by employing a deeper understanding of effective leadership behaviors of administrators in high poverty schools and providing a benchmark for future studies exploring transformational leadership behaviors for successful school reform.

References

- Afshari, M., Bakar, K., Luan, W., & Siraj, S. (2012). Factors affecting the transformational leadership role of principals in implementing ICT in schools. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 11(4), 164-176. Retrieved from Social Sciences Citation Index. (Accession No. 000309531600016)
- Allen, N., Grigsby, B., & Peters, M. L. (2015). Does leadership matter? Examining the relationship among transformational leadership, school climate, and student achievement. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 10(2), 1-22. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1083099.pdf
- Aydin, A., Sarier, Y., & Uysal, S. (2013). The effect of school principals' leadership styles on teachers' organizational commitment and job satisfaction. *Educational Sciences: Theory and Practice*, 13(2), 806-811. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete. (Accession No. 87343949)
- Ayodele, J., Buari, R., & Oguntuase, D. (2016). Principals' administrative strategies and students' academic performance in Nigerian secondary schools. *Imperial Journal of Interdisciplinary Research*, 2(1), 271-277. Retrieved from https://www.onlinejournal.in/IJIRV2II/044.pdf
- Babbie, E. (2017). Basics of social research (7th ed.). Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.
- Balyer, A. (2012). Transformational leadership behaviors of school principals: A qualitative research based on teachers' perceptions. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, *4*(3), 581-591. Retrieved from https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/d4f3/14cb874ce89511e80f857c56748ec1542182.

pdf

- Balyer, A. (2014). School principals' role priorities. *Journal of Theory and Practice in Education*, 10(1), 24-40. Retrieved from http://dergipark.gov.tr/download/article-file/63397
- Balyer, A., Ozcan, K., & Yildiz, A. (2017). Teacher Empowerment: School

 Administrators' Roles. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, 70, 1-18.

 doi:10.14689/ejer.2017.70.1
- Baptiste, M. (2019). No teacher left behind: The impact of principal leadership styles on teacher job satisfaction and student success. *Journal of International Education and Leadership*, 9(1). Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1212519.pdf
- Bass, B. (1985). *Leadership and performance beyond expectations*. New York: The Free Press.
- Bass, B. (1988). The inspirational processes of leadership. *Journal of Management Development*, 7(5), 21–31. doi:10.1108/eb051688
- Bass, B. (1990). From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision. *Organizational Dynamics*, *18*(3), 19–31. doi:10.1016/0090-2616(90)90061-S
- Bass, B. (2000). The future of leadership in learning organizations. *Journal of Leadership* and *Organizational Studies*, 7, 18–40. doi:10.1177/107179190000700302
- Bass, B., & Avolio, B. (1990). Transformational leadership development: Manual for the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists

Press.

- Bass, B., & Avolio, B. (1994). *Improving organizational effectiveness through* transformational leadership (pp. 1–9). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bass, B., & Avolio, B. (2004). *Multifactor leadership questionnaire: Manual leader* form, rater, and scoring key for the MLQ (Form 5x short). Redwood City, CA: Mind Garden.
- Bass, B. M., & Riggio, R. E. (2006). *Transformational leadership* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Berkovich, I. (2016). School leaders and transformational leadership theory: Time to part ways? *Journal of Educational Administration*, *54*(5), 609-622, doi:10.1108/JEA-11-2015-0100
- Blair, C., & Raver, C. (2014). Closing the achievement gap through modification of neurocognitive and neuroendocrine function: Results from a cluster randomized controlled trial of an innovative approach to the education of children in kindergarten. *Plos ONE*, *9*(11), 1-13. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0112393
- Boberg, J. E., & Bourgeois, S. J. (2016). The effects of integrated transformational leadership on achievement. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *54*(3), 357-374. doi:10.1108/JEA-07-2014-0086
- Branch, G. F., Hanushek, E. A., & Rivkin, S. G. (2013). School leaders matter:

 Measuring the impact of effective principals. *Education Next*, 13(1), 62-69.

 Retrieved from http://hanushek.stanford.edu/publications/school-leaders-mattermeasuring-impact-effective-principals

- Britton, B., & Graesser, A. (2014). *Models of understanding text*. Mawah, NJ: Erlbaum Psychology Press.
- Brown, A. A. (2012). Turnaround schools: Practices used by nationally recognized principals to improve student achievement in high-poverty schools (Doctoral dissertation, The University of Memphis). Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED545788
- Brown, A., & Green, R. (2014). Behaviors used by nationally blue ribbon award winning principals to improve student achievement in high-poverty schools. *National Forum of Applied Educational Research Journal*, 27(1/2), 2-18. Retrieved from Education Source. (Accession No. 92976092)
- Brown, G., Bynum, Y., & Beziat, T. (2017). Leading for low income students: Results from a study on school leaders in low income elementary schools.

 *Education, 138(1), 68-74. Retrieved from Expanded Academic ASAP. (Accession No. edsgcl.506951824)
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., & Crawford, L. M. (2016). *The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design*. Baltimore, MD: Laureate Publishing.
- Burke, W. (2013). *Organization change: Theory and practice*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Burns, J. (1978). Leadership. New York: Harper and Row.
- Bush, T. (2014). Instructional and transformational leadership: alternative and complementary models? *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 42(4), 443-444. doi:10.1177/1741143214526830

- Cansoy, R. (2019). The relationship between school principals' leadership behaviours and teachers' job satisfaction: A systematic review. *International Education Studies*, 12(1), 37-52. doi:10.5539/ies.v12n1p37
- Carpenter, D. (2015). School culture and leadership of professional learning communities. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 29(5), 682-694. doi:10.1108/IJEM-04-2014-0046
- Carta, J., Greenwood, C., Atwater, J., McConnell, S., Goldstein, H., & Kaminski, R. (2015). Identifying preschool children for higher tiers of language and early literacy instruction within a response to intervention framework. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 36(4), 281-291. doi:10.1177/1053815115579937
- Chafel, J., & Neitzel, C. (2012). "I would like to see how they got poor and set what it's like to be poor": An analysis of young children's responses to a critical literacy text about poverty. *Journal of Poverty*, *16*(2), 147-170.

 doi:10.1080/10875549.2012.667058
- Christiansen, T., & Robey, P. A. (2015). Promoting systemic change through the integration of professional learning community behaviors with Glasser Quality Schools. *International Journal of Choice Theory & Reality Therapy*, 35(1), 7-13.
- Clarke, S. (2016). School leadership in turbulent times and the value of negative capability. *Professional Development in Education*, 42(1), 5-18, doi:10.1080/19415257.2015.1010692
- Comber, B. (2014). Literacy, poverty and schooling: what matters in young people's

- education? Literacy, 48(3), 115-123. doi:10.1111/lit.12041
- Conradi, K., Amendum, S. J., & Liebfreund, M. D. (2016). Explaining variance in comprehension for students in a high-poverty setting. *Reading and Writing Quarterly*, 32(5), 427-453. doi:10.1080/10573569.2014.994251
- Creswell, J. (2013). Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Damanik, E., & Aldridge, J. (2017). Transformational leadership and its impact on school climate and teachers' self-efficacy in Indonesian High Schools. *Journal of School Leadership*, (2), 269. Retrieved from Education Source. (Accession No. 124057117)
- Daniels, E., Hondeghem, A., & Dochy, F. (2019). A review on leadership and leadership development in educational settings. *Educational Research Review*, 27, 110–125. doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2019.02.003
- Day, C., Gu, Q., & Sammons, P. (2016). The impact of leadership on student outcomes:

 How successful school leaders use transformational and instructional strategies to

 make a difference. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 52(2), 221-258.

 doi:10.1177/0013161X15616863
- Day, C., & Sammons, P. (2013). Successful leadership: A review of the international literature. Berkshire, UK: CfBT Education Trust.
- Donaldson, M. (2013). Principals' approaches to cultivating teacher effectiveness constraints and opportunities in hiring, assigning, evaluating, and developing teachers. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 49, 838-882.

- doi:10.1177/0013161X13485961
- Dumay, X., Boonen, T., & Van Damme, J. (2013). Principal leadership long-term indirect effects on learning growth in mathematics. *Elementary School Journal*, 114, 225–251. doi:10.1086/673198
- Dutta, V., & Sahney, S. (2016). School leadership and its impact on student achievement:

 The mediating role of school climate and teacher job satisfaction. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 30(6), 941-958. doi:10.1108/IJEM-12-2014-0170
- Easley, J., & Tulowitzki, P. (2016). Educational accountability International perspectives on challenges and possibilities for school leadership. London, England: Routledge.
- Ehisuoria, S., & Aigbokhaebho, E. (2014). Strategies for rural poverty reduction in Ekpoma region of Edo State, Nigeria. *Research on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 4(9), 100-108
- Felfe, J., Tartler, K., & Liepmann, D. (2004). Advanced research in the field of transformational leadership. *Journal of Human Research*, 18(3), 262–288. doi:10.1177/239700220401800302
- Finnigan, K. S. (2012). Principal leadership in low-performing schools: A closer look through the eyes of teachers. *Education & Urban Society*, 44(2), 183-202. doi:10.1177/0013124511431570
- Fletcher, J. (2017). What can we do to support reading for young adolescent students? *Education 3-13, 45*(2), 258-271. doi:10.1080/03004279.2015.1078832

- Fletcher, J., Grimley, M., Greenwood, J., & Parkhill, F. (2013). Raising reading achievement in an 'at risk', low socioeconomic, multicultural intermediate school.

 *Journal of Research in Reading, 36(2), 149-171. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9817.2011.01497.x
- Francois, C. (2014). Getting at the core of literacy improvement: A case study of an urban secondary school. *Education & Urban Society*, 46(5), 580-605. doi:10.1177/0013124512458116
- Fullan, M. (2002). Leadership and sustainability. *Principal Leadership*, *3*(4), 14–17.

 Retrieved from https://michaelfullan.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2016/06/13396047460.pdf
- Gray, D., & Lewis, J. (2013). Lessons learned in preparing principals to become instructional leaders. *International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation*, 8(1), 140-143. Retrieved from Education Source. (Accession No. 94256122)
- Grissom, J. A., Loeb, S., & Master, B. (2013). Effective instructional time use for school leaders: Longitudinal evidence from observations of principals. *Educational Researcher*, 42, 433–444. doi:10.3102/0013189X13510020
- Hagans, K., & Good III, R. (2013). Decreasing reading differences in children from disadvantaged backgrounds: The effects of an early literacy intervention.
 Contemporary School Psychology, 17(1), 103-117. doi:10.1007/BF03340992
- Hagel, A. (2014). The role of the school principal in increasing academic achievement of children living in poverty. (Doctoral Dissertation), Walden University,

- Minneapolis, MN.
- Hallinger, P., & Lee, M. (2013). Mapping instructional leadership in Thailand: Has education reform impacted principal practice? *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 2(1), 6–29. doi:10.1177/1741143213502196
- Hancock, D., & Algozzine, B. (2006). *Doing case study research*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.
- Hanover Research. (2014). Improving student achievement and closing the achievement gap. Retrieved from http://gssaweb.org/webnew/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/Improving-Student- Achievement-and- Closing-the-Achievement-Gap.pdf
- Haskins, R., Murnane, R., Sawhill, I., & Snow, C. (2012). Can academic standards boost literacy and close the achievement gap? (Policy Brief). Princeton, NJ: The Future of Children Princeton-Brookings. Retrieved from Brookings Institution website: http://www.brookings.edu/~/media/research/files/papers/2012/10/02%20boost%2 Oliteracy%20haskins%20sawhill/child%20literacy%20policy%20brief.pdf
- Heck, R., & Hallinger, P. (2014). Modeling the longitudinal effects of school leadership on teaching and learning. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 52(5), 653-681. doi:10.1108/JEA-08-2013-0097
- Hernez-Broome, G., & Hughes, R. (2012). Leadership development: Past, present, and future. *Human Resource Planning*, 24-32. Retrieved from http://www.ccl.org/leadership/pdf/research/cclLeadershipDevelopment.pdf
 Hiebert, E., & Mesmer, H. (2013). Upping the ante of text complexity in the Common

- Core State Standards examining its potential impact on young readers. *Educational Researcher*, 42, 44-51. doi:10.3102/0013189X12459802
- Holliday, M., Cimetta, A., Cutshaw, C., Yaden, D., & Marx, R. (2014). Protective factors for school readiness among children in poverty. *Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk*, 19(3-4), 125-147. doi:10.1080/10824669.2014.971692
- Huguet, B. S. (2017). Effective leadership can positively impact school performance. *On the Horizon*, 25(2), 96-102. doi:10.1108/OTH-07-2016-0044
- Johnson, S., Reinhorn, S., Charner-Laird, M., Kraft, M., Ng, M., & Papay, J. (2014).
 Ready to lead, but how? Teachers' experiences in high-poverty urban schools.
 Teachers College Record, 116(10), 1–50. Retrieved from MEDLINE. (Accession No. 25866424).
- Judge, S. (2013). Longitudinal predictors of reading achievement among at-risk children.Journal of Children and Poverty, 19(1), 1-19.doi:10.1080/10796126.2013.765629
- Katz, B., & Shah, P. (2017). The role of child socioeconomic status in cognitive training outcomes. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 53, 139-150. doi:10.1016/j.appdev.2017.10.003
- Kellar, F., & Slayton, J. (2016). Fostering and achieving organizational change: A framework for studying the complexities of school leadership. *Journal of School Leadership*, 26(4), 690-716. Retrieved from Expanded Academic ASAP.
 (Accession No. edsgcl.472847553)
- Klar, H., & Brewer, C. (2013). Successful leadership in high-needs schools: An

- examination of core leadership behaviors enacted in challenging contexts.

 Educational Administration Quarterly, 49(5), 768-808.

 doi:10.1177/0013161X13482577
- Klar, H., Huggins, K., Hammonds, H., & Buskey, F. (2016). Fostering the capacity for distributed leadership: A post-heroic approach to leading school improvement, *International Journal of Leadership in Education, 19*(2), 111-137. doi:10.1080/13603124.2015.1005028
- Kruger, M., & Scheerens, J. (2012). Conceptual perspectives on school leadership, in Scheerens, J. (Ed.), School leadership effects revisited: Review and meta-analysis of empirical studies. London: Springer.
- Kwan, P. (2016). The effect of trust on the relationship between instructional leadership and student outcomes in Hong Kong secondary schools. *Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 25(1), 111-121. doi:10.1007/s40299-015-0242-5
- Ladd, H. (2012). Education and poverty: Confronting the evidence. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 31(2), 203-227. doi:10.1002/pam
- Lee, P., & Bierman, K. (2015). Classroom and teacher support in kindergarten: associations with the behavioral and academic adjustment of low-income students. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 61(3), 383. doi:10.13110/merrpalmquar1982.61.3.0383
- Leithwood, K. (1994). Leadership for school restructuring. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 30(4), 498–518. doi:10.1177/0013161X94030004006
- Leithwood, K., & Azah, V. N. (2017). Characteristics of high-performing school districts.

- Leadership & Policy in Schools, 16(1), 27-53. doi:10.1080/15700763.2016.1197282
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (1999). The relative effects of principal and teacher sources of leadership on student engagement with school. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 35, 679–706. doi:10.1177/0013161X99355002
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2000). The effects of transformational leadership on organizational conditions and student engagement with school. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 38(2), 112-129. doi:10.1108/09578230010320064.
- Leithwood, K., & Jantzi, D. (2005). A review of transformational school leadership research 1996–2005. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 4(3), 177–199. doi:10.1080/15700760500244769
- Leithwood, K., Louis, K. S., Anderson, S., & Walhstrom, K. (2004). Review of research:

 How leadership influences student learning. New York: Wallace Foundation.

 Retrieved from http://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledgecenter/Documents/How-Leadership-Influences-Student-Learning.pdf
- Litz, D., & Scott, S. (2017). Transformational leadership in the educational system of the United Arab Emirates. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 45(4), 566-587. doi:10.1177/1741143216636112
- Louis, K. S. (2015). Linking leadership to learning: State, district and local effects. *Nordic Journal of Studies in Educational Policy*, 1(3). Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286523152_Linking_leadership_to_lear ning_state_district_and_local_effects

- Makgato, M., & Mudzanani, N. (2019). Exploring school principals' leadership styles and learners' educational performance: A perspective from high- and low-performing schools, *Africa Education Review*, *16*(2), 90-108, doi:10.1080/18146627.2017.1411201
- McKibben, S. (2013). Do local-level principal preparation programs prevent principal turnover? *The Public Purpose*, 11, 69-85. Retrieved from https://www.american.edu/spa/publicpurpose/upload/2013_Principal-Preparation.pdf
- Menon, M. E. (2014). The relationship between transformational leadership, perceived leader effectiveness and teachers' job satisfaction. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 52(4), 509-528. doi:10.1108/JEA-01-2013-0014
- Merritt, A. D. (2016). Effectiveness of leadership on increasing student achievement in high-poverty school. (Doctoral dissertation), Chicago State University, Chicago, IL.
- Mesmer, H., & Hiebert, E. (2015). Third graders' reading proficiency reading texts varying in complexity and length: Responses of students in an urban, high-needs school. *Journal of Literacy Research*, 47(4), 473-504. doi:10.1177/1086296X16631923
- Miller, P., Pavlakis, A., Lac, V., & Hoffman, D. (2014). Responding to poverty and its complex challenges: The importance of policy fluency for educational leaders.
 Theory into Practice, 53(2), 131-138. doi:10.1080/00405841.2014.887888
 Mombourquette, C. (2017). The role of vision in effective school leadership.

- International Studies in Educational Administration, 45(1), 19-36. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete. (Accession No. 126378979)
- Mora-Whitehurst, R. (2013). The relationship between elementary principals' visionary leadership and students' reading performance. *Educational Forum*, 77(3), 315-328. doi:10.1080/00131725.2013.792897
- Muthler, S. (2015). Differentiation isn't perfect but it can work. *Edudemic-Connecting Education and Technology*. Retrieved from

 http://www.edudemic.com/differentiation-can-work/
- Nenadal, L., & Mistry, R. S. (2018). Teacher reflections on using inquiry-based instruction to engage young children in conversations about wealth and poverty. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 42, 44-54. doi:10.1016/j.ecresq.2017.07.008
- Nichols, J., & Nichols, G. (2014). Perceptions of school leaders: Exploring school climate data based on principal gender and student achievement. *Advancing Women in Leadership*, *34*, 27-37. Retrieved from Academic Source. (Accession No. 101774550)
- Ojera, D. A., & Yambo, J. M. O. (2014). Role of principals' instructional leadership style in facilitating learning materials and co-ordination of personnel on students' performance. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science Invention*, 3(3), 51-55. Retrieved from http://ijhssi.org/papers/v3(3)/Version-1/I0331051055.pdf
- Oterkiil, C., & Ertesvag, S. (2014). Development of a measurement for transformational

- and transactional leadership in schools taking on a school-based intervention. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership 42*(4), 5-27.

 doi:10.1177/1741143214523011
- Pan, H., Nyeu, F., & Cheng, S. (2017). Leading school for learning: Principal behaviors in Taiwan. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 55(2), 168-185. doi:10.1108/JEA-06-2016-0069
- Pietsch, M., & Tulowitzki, P. (2017). Disentangling school leadership and its ties to instructional behaviors an empirical comparison of various leadership styles. School Effectiveness and School Improvement, 28(4), 629-649, doi:10.1080/09243453.2017.1363787
- Quin, J., Deris, A., Bischoff, G., & Johnson, J. (2015). Comparison of transformational leadership behaviors: Implications for school districts and principal preparation programs. *Journal of Leadership Education*, *14*(3), 71-85. doi:10.12806/V14/I3/R5
- Radinger, T. (2014). School leader appraisal A tool to strengthen school leaders' pedagogical leadership and skills for teacher management? *European Journal of Education*, 49(3), 378-394. doi:10.1111/ejed.12085
- Rana, S., Malik, N., & Hussain, R. (2016). Leadership styles as predictors of job
 involvement in teachers. *Pakistan Journal of Psychological Research*, 31(1), 161182. Retrieved from Academic Search Complete. (Accession No. 118694611)
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual,theoretical, and methodological.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

Publications.

- Rickman, D. (2015). Top ten issues to watch in 2016. Retrieved from [REDACTED]

 Partnership for Excellence in Education:

 http://www.gpee.org/fileadmin/files/PDFs/GPEE_Top_Ten_Brochure_Final_2.pd

 f
- Rogers, R., Labadie, M., & Pole, K. (2016). Balancing voice and protection in literacy studies with young children. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, *16*(1), 34-59. doi:10.1177/1468798414554632
- Ross, D., & Cozzens, J. (2016). The principalship: Essential core competencies for instructional leadership and its impact on school climate. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 4(9), 162-176. doi:10.11114/jets.v4i9.1562
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Saldana, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. London: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Sammons, P., Davis, S., Day, C., & Gu, Q. (2014). Using mixed methods to investigate school improvement and the role of leadership: An example of a longitudinal study in England. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *52*(5), 565-589. doi:10.1108/JEA-10-2013-0121
- Sang, C., Chepchieng, M., & Kariuke, M. (2015). Relationship between students' family socioeconomic status, school category and academic achievement in Kericho County, Kenya. *Journal of International Academic Research for*

- Multidisciplinary, 3(4), 464-476. doi:10.4172/2469-9837.S2-003
- Scheerens, J. (2012). School Leadership Effects Revisited: Review and Meta-Analysis of Empirical Studies. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer.
- Schippers, V. (2014). No preschooler left behind: The need for high quality early intervention for children born into poverty. *Multicultural Education*, 22(1), 41-45.

 Retrieved from Expanded Academic ASAP. (Accession No. edsgcl.411196878)
- Schwartz, R., Schmitt, M., & Lose, M. (2012). Effects of teacher-student ratio in response to intervention approaches. *Elementary School Journal*, 112(4), 547-567. doi:10.1086/664490
- Sebastian, J., Allensworth, E., & Huang, H. (2016). The role of teacher leadership in how principals influence classroom instruction and student learning. *American Journal of Education*, 123, 69-108. doi:10.1086/688169
- Sebastian, J., Huang, H., & Allensworth, E. (2017). Examining integrated leadership systems in high schools: connecting principal and teacher leadership to organizational processes and student outcomes. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 28(3), 463-488, doi:10.1080/09243453.2017.1319392
- Shatzer, R. H., Caldarella, P., Hallam, P. R., & Brown, B. L. (2014). Comparing the effects of instructional and transformational leadership on student achievement:

 Implications for practice. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 42(4), 445-459. doi:10.1177/1741143213502192
- Shen, J., Ma, X., Cooley, V., & Burt, W. (2016). Mediating effects of school process on the relationship between principals' data-informed decision-making and student

- achievement. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 19(4), 373-401. doi:10.1080/13603124.2014.986208
- Shin, S., Slater, C. L., & Backhoff, E. (2013). Principal perceptions and student achievement in reading in Korea, Mexico, and the United States: Educational leadership, school autonomy, and use of test results. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 49(3), 489-527. doi:10.1177/0013161X12458796
- Singh, A. S. (2014). Conducting case study research in non-profit organisations.

 *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 17, 77-84.
- doi:10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024
- Slater, J., Strait, D. L., Skoe, E., O'Connell, S., Thompson, E., & Kraus, N. (2014)

 Longitudinal effects of group music instruction on literacy skills in low-income children. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(11): e113383. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113383
- Smith, B. (2016). The role of leadership style in creating a great school. *SELU Research Review Journal*, 1(1), 65–78. Retrieved from https://selu.usask.ca/documents/research-and-publications/srrj/SRRJ-1-1-Smith.pdf
- Smith, M., Schiano, A., & Lattanzio, E. (2014). Beyond the classroom. *Knowledge**Quest, 42(3), 20-29. Retrieved from

 http://cdn.lexile.com/m/cms_page_media/135/Beyond%20the%20Classroom_KQ
 .pdf
- Stake, R. (1978). The case study method in social inquiry. *Educational Researcher*, 7(2), 5-8. doi:10.3102/0013189X007002005

- Steinle, C., Eichenberg, T., & Stolberg, M. (2008). Full range leadership model: Critical appraisal and suggestions for development. *Journal of Management*, *3*(2), 101–124. doi:10.1007%2Fs12354-008-0007-7
- Stone-Johnson, C. (2014). Responsible leadership. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 50(4), 645-674. doi:10.1177/0013161X13510004
- Stump, M., Zlatkin-Troitschanskaia, O., & Mater, O. (2016). The effects of transformational leadership on teachers' data use. *Journal for Educational Research Online*, 8(3), 80-99. Retrieved from Education Source. (Accession No. 120949172)
- Suitts, S. (2015). A new majority update: Low income students in the south and nation. Retrieved from Southern Education Foundation:

 http://www.southerneducation.org/getattachment/817a35f1-abb9-4d6a-8c2e-5514d4a6d7d9/Test-Publication-4.aspx
- Sun, R., & Henderson, A. C. (2017). Transformational leadership and organizational processes: Influencing public performance. *Public Administration Review*, 77(4), 554-565. doi:10.1111/puar.12654
- Sun, J., & Leithwood, K. (2012). Transformational school leadership effects on student achievement. *Leadership & Policy in Schools*, 11(4), 418-451. doi:10.1080/15700763.2012.681001
- Sun, J., & Leithwood, K. (2015). Direction-setting school leadership behaviors: A metaanalytical review of evidence about their influence. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 26(4), 499-523. doi:10.1080/09243453.2015.1005106

- Tan, C. (2012). Instructional leadership: Toward a contextualized knowledge creation model. *School Leadership and Management*, 32(2), 183-194. doi:10.1080/13632434.2011.614944
- Thapa, A., Cohen, J., Guffey, S., & Higgins-D'Alessandro, A. (2013). A review of school climate research. *Review of Educational Research*, 83(3), 357–385. doi:10.3102/0034654313483907
- Tichnor-Wagner, A., Garwood, J. D., Bratsch-Hines, M., & Vernon-Feagans, L. (2016).

 Home literacy environments and foundational literacy skills for struggling and nonstruggling readers in rural early elementary schools. *Learning Disabilities*Research & Practice (Wiley-Blackwell), 31(1), 6-21. doi:10.1111/ldrp.12090
- Tivnan, T., & Hemphill, L. (2015). Comparing four literacy reform models in high-poverty schools: Patterns of first-grade achievement. *Elementary School Journal*, 105(5), 419-441. doi:10.1086/431885
- Tobin, J. (2014). Management and leadership issues for school building leaders.

 International Journal of Educational Leadership Preparation, 9(1), 1-14.

 Retrieved from ERIC. (Accession No. EJ1024110)
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Gareis, C. (2015). Faculty trust in the principal: An essential ingredient in high-performing schools. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 53(1), 66-92. doi:10.1108/JEA-02-2014-0024
- Vanblaere, B., & Devos, G. (2016). Relating school leadership to perceived professional learning community characteristics: A multilevel analysis. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 57, 26-38. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2016.03.003

- VanTassel-Baska, J. (2015). Arguments for and against the common core state standards. Gifted Child Today, 38(1), 60-62. doi:10.1177/1076217514556535
- Vieluf, S., Kunter, M., & van de Vijver, F. (2013). Teacher self-efficacy in cross-national perspective. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 35, 92-103. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2013.05.006
- Waite, D. (2014). Imperial hubris: The dark heart of leadership. *Journal of School Leadership*, 24(6), 1202-1232. Retrieved from Expanded Academic ASAP. (Accession No. edsgcl.424532396)
- Wang, N., Wilhite, S., & Martino, D. (2016). Understanding the relationship between school leaders' social and emotional competence and their transformational leadership: The importance of self–other agreement. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 44(3), 467–490. doi:10.1177/1741143214558568
- Watson, T., & Bogotch, I. (2016). (Re)imagining school as community: Lessons learned from teachers. *School Community Journal*, 26(1), 93-114. Retrieved from http://www.adi.org/journal/2016ss/WatsonBogotchSpring2016.pdf
- Woods, E. H., & Martin, B. (2016). What leadership behaviors were demonstrated by the principal in a high poverty, high achieving elementary school? *Cogent Education*, 3(1). doi:10.1080/2331186X.2016.1172935
- Xu, L., Wubbena, Z., & Stewart, T. (2016). Measurement invariance of second-order factor model of the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) across K-12 principal gender. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 54(6), 727-748. doi:10.1108/JEA-01-2015-0001

- Yin, R. (2013). Validity and generalizations in future case study evaluations. *Evaluation*, 19(3), 321-332. doi:10.1177/1356389013497081
- Yin, R. K. (2014). *Case study research design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Yoon, S. (2016). Principals' data-driven practice and its influences on teacher buy-in and student achievement in comprehensive school reform models. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 15(4), 500-523. doi:10.1080/15700763.2016.1181187
- Young, M., Winn, K., & Reedy, M. (2017). The every student succeeds act:

 Strengthening the focus on educational leadership. *Educational Administration*Quarterly, 53, 705-726. doi:10.1177/0013161X17735871
- Zeinabadi, H. (2014). Principal-teacher high-quality exchange indicators and student achievement: Testing a model. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 52(3), 404-420. doi:10.1108/JEA-05-2012-0056
- Zheng, Q., Li, L., Chen, H., & Loeb, S. (2017). What aspects of principal leadership are most highly correlated with school outcomes in China? *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 53(3), 409–447. doi:10.1177/0013161X17706152

Appendix A: Interview Guide

Procedure:

- A. I will explain my role as researcher.
- B. I will provide an overview of my research, followed by asking if the participant has any questions.
- C. I will explain the instruments that will be used for data collection, including the interview guide, personal reflection survey, and audio voice recording application.
- D. I will review the consent form and obtain a signature.
- E. I will conduct the interview.
- F. I will ask the participant to complete the personal reflection survey.
- G. I will reiterate the purpose of the study and ask if the participant has any other questions.

Interview Questions:

- 1. What are ways you build the respect of others?
- 2. How do you articulate vision and promote the achievement of goals?
- 3. What are ways you get teachers to look at problems from different angles?
- 4. How do you support the professional growth of your staff?
- 5. What supports are in place to build a sense of purpose in your school?
- 6. Please describe specific behaviors that help you create an atmosphere of academic focus within the school community.
- 7. What kinds of behaviors help you include different groups in decision-making?
- 8. What are ways you support others in developing their strengths?

- 9. Is there anything else you would like to share about your leadership behaviors?
- 10. How long have you been a school administrator?
- 11. Please share how often do you engage in professional development specific to your role as school leader.

Appendix B: Personal Reflection Survey

This personal reflection survey is to describe your leadership behaviors as you perceive them. Please use the rating scale to respond to each item. If an item is unrelated to your responsibilities as a leader, or if you are unsure, you may leave the response blank.

Sixteen descriptive statements are listed. Consider how frequently each statement corresponds to you as a school administrator.

Use the following rating scale:

<u> </u>	, 8			
Not at all	Once in a	Sometimes	Fairly often	Frequently, if
	while			not always
0	1	2	3	4

1. I re-examine critical assumptions to question whether they			2	3	4
are appropriate.					
2. I talk about my most important values and beliefs.			2	3	4
3. I seek differing perspectives when solving problems.		1	2	3	4
4. I talk optimistically about the future.		1	2	3	4
5. I talk enthusiastically about what needs to be		1	2	3	4
accomplished.					
6. I specify the importance of having a strong sense of			2	3	4
purpose.					
7. I spend time teaching and coaching.		1	2	3	4
8. I go beyond self-interest for the good of the group.		1	2	3	4
9. I treat others as individuals rather than just as a member		1	2	3	4
of a group.					
10. I consider the moral and ethical consequences of		1	2	3	4
decisions.					
11. I articulate a compelling vision of the future.			2	3	4
12. I consider an individual as having different needs,		1	2	3	4
abilities, and aspirations from others.					
13. I get others to look at problems from many different		1	2	3	4
angles.					
14. I help others to develop their strengths.		1	2	3	4
15. I suggest new ways of looking at how to complete		1	2	3	4
assignments.					
16. I express confidence that goals will be achieved.		1	2	3	4

This personal reflection survey was developed using the Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire (MLQ) by Bass and Avolio (2004).